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Chairman’s Statement

ERHE

To all shareholders:

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the "Directors”) of Wah Wo
Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present the annual
results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Year").

On 17 January 2020 (the "Listing Date"), the shares of the Company (the
"Shares”) were successfully listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing”), marking an
important milestone of the Group and laying a solid foundation for our future
development.

The Group is a Hong Kong-based contractor engaged in facade works, which
mainly include windows, window wall system, curtain wall system and other
facade members. We principally provide design and build services for new
buildings and renovation services for built premises.

During the Year, the Group recorded a total revenue of HK$223.1 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 36.4% as compared to
approximately HK$350.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 which was
mainly due to substantial completion of the projects on hand during the year
ended 31 March 2021. The Group recorded a net profit of approximately
HKS$1.4 million, represented a decrease of approximately 76.7% as compared
with approximately HKS$6.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2021. For the
contributing factors of the decrease in net profit, please refer to the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” section of this report.

The Directors are of the view that the novel coronavirus (the “COVID-19")
pandemic outbreak continued to affect different industries, including
construction industry, in Hong Kong and the business environment in which
the Group operates remains difficult and challenging. Although the COVID-19
pandemic had gradually been under control in certain period during the Year
as the COVID-19 vaccination rate continued to rise, the arrival of the new
variants of COVID-19 in early January 2022 had changed the situation and
caused a severe outbreak in Hong Kong (generally referred as 5th wave of
pandemic). The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
had to introduce a series of strict but necessary pandemic prevention and
control measures to contain the severe epidemic situation, at the cost of
affecting the gradually recovering Hong Kong economy activities. Our Group
also faced increasing difficulties, such as: supply chain disruptions on deliver
products from Mainland China to Hong Kong constructions sites, a reduction
in productivity as a result of illness and preventative quarantines of those
related close contacts and on-site arrangement or measures imposed by the
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customers. The Group incurred additional transportation cost to deliver
products to construction sites, additional cost for safety management
measures on site, such as social distancing measures and regular periodic
COVID-19 swab tests, additional cost to speed up the installation process as a
result of reduced productivity.

The prospects for global economic recovery is still full of uncertainties, such as:
the COVID-19 situation remains fluid and rapidly evolving, additional new
variants are being reported; the upcoming interest rate hike cycle; the tense
situation in Ukraine; and the uncertain development of Sino-US relations.
Apart from global economic factors, the Group also faces intense competition
from fellow competitors and the increase of raw material price, which lead to
a challenging situation to the Group.

Nonetheless, looking into the future, the Group believes that Hong Kong's
economy and construction industry will gradually recover as social distancing
measures gradually relaxed and the launch of Employment Support Scheme
2022 by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.

Regardless of the near-term challenges and uncertainty in the industry, we will
remain focused on our long-term goals. The Group may consider exploring
other business opportunities of the Group in order to enhance our future
development and to strengthen the revenue bases of the Group. The Group
have acquired a few investment properties during the Year, and considered
they constituted a good investment opportunity that will offer a reasonable
and attractive rate of return for the Group. The Group intends to lease out
these investment properties for rental income after renovation. The Group will
also be ready to dive into any other opportunities as they arise or come to our
attention. We expect that diversification of our business will provide a better
return to the shareholders of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Chen Yuet Wa
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 30 June 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBFWEAS N

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

The Group is an established contractor engaged in facade works with a focus
on window in Hong Kong. Facade works can be classified into window,
window wall system, curtain wall system and other facade members. We
principally provide design and build services for new buildings and renovation
services for built premises and trading of tools and equipment. Our services
generally include developing designs, conducting structural calculations and
preparing shop drawings, as well as management and coordination of various
aspects of a project which involve procurement of building materials from
material suppliers and/or subcontracting of installation works to our
subcontractors, on-site project management and post-project completion
and maintenance services.

Our design and build services are typically conducted on new buildings and
involve the installation of windows and other facade components such as
metal doors, louvres, balustrades, grilles and canopy (referred to as “design
and build projects”). Our renovation services on the other hand are typically
conducted on built premises and usually involve the repair, replacement,
upgrade or maintenance of windows, metal doors and other facade
components (referred to as “renovation projects’). We provide design and
build services and renovation services for different types of buildings,
including residential apartments, commercial buildings, retail premises,
universities and hotels in Hong Kong.

The Group recorded gross profit of approximately HK$16.4 million for the year
ended 31 March 2022 (the “Year"), as compared with the gross profit of
approximately HK$21.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2021. The Group's
gross profit margin for the Year was approximately 7.3% as compared with
approximately 6.1% for the year ended 31 March 2021. The Group recorded a
consolidated net profit of approximately HK$1.4 million for the Year, as
compared with an audited consolidated net profit of approximately HKS$6.0
million for the year ended 31 March 2021. Such decrease in expected net
profit is mainly attributable to (i) our continuing proactive pricing strategy in
response to increasing competition in the construction industry; (i) the
decrease in government subsidies from the Employment Support Scheme
under the Anti-epidemic Fund due to the outbreak of the coronavirus disease
(COVID-19); and (iii) the increase in direct costs incurred from unexpected
additional costs incurred to deal with unexpected changes to the on-site
arrangements for certain construction projects of the Group as a result of
COVID-19 pandemic.

Looking forward, the Group will continue to actively explore and consider any

suitable development opportunities in the industry that can broaden our
revenue base and are beneficial to the Group and its shareholders as a whole.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's revenue decreased by approximately HK$127.7 million or
approximately 36.4% from approximately HK$350.8 million for the year ended
31 March 2021 to approximately HK$223.1 million for the Year. The decrease
in revenue was mainly substantial completion of the projects on hand during
the year ended 31 March 2021 and competitive construction project pricing
arising from intense market competition.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit of the Group for the Year amounted to approximately HK$16.4
million, representing a decrease of approximately 23.4% as compared with
approximately HK$21.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2021. The Group's
gross profit margin for the Year was approximately 7.3%, as compared with
approximately 6.1% for the year ended 31 March 2021. The decrease in gross
profit was primarily due to the substantial completion of the projects on hand
during the year ended 31 March 2021, while the gross profit margin improved
slightly as compared to the situation during the year ended 31 March 2021,
which has been affected by COVID-19.

Other Income and Gain

Other income and gain of the Group for the Year amounted to approximately
HKS$2.4 million, representing a decrease of approximately 53.8% or HK$2.8
million as compared with approximately HK$5.2 million for the year ended 31
March 2021. The decrease was primarily due to the decrease in bank interest
income generated from bank deposits, and the government subsidies from
the Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund of the
HKSAR Government net off by the fair value gain of investment properties for
the Year.

Administrative Expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$17.6 million, representing an increase of approximately
12.1% as compared with approximately HK$15.7 million for year ended 31
March 2021. The increase was mainly attributable to (i) increase in
depreciation of property, plant and equipment; (i) increase in depreciation of
right-of-use assets and (iii) increase in marketing expense to develop more
business opportunities with new customers.

Finance Costs

Finance costs of the Group for the Year were approximately HK$77,000,
representing a decrease of approximately 28.0% as compared with
approximately HK$107,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021. The decrease
was mainly attributable to the payments to the lease liabilities during the Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBFWEAS N

Profit for the year

Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the Year decreased by
approximately HK$4.6 million or approximately 76.7% from approximately
HKS$6.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately HKS1.4
million for the Year. The decrease in the Group's net profit for the Year was
mainly due to the reasons as mentioned above.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Shares were successfully listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
on the Listing Date and there has been no change in capital structure of the
Group since then.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Company’s issued capital was
HK$10,000,000 and the number of its issued ordinary shares was 1,000,000,000
of HK$0.01 each.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had total cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$62.8 million (2021: approximately HK$84.8 million). There
were no bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.
Interests were charged at floating rates. The Group did not carry out any
interest rate hedging policy.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach towards
its treasury policy. The Board closely monitors the Group's liquidity position to
ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group's assets, liabilities, and other
commitments can meet its funding requirements all the time.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had approximately HK$22.8 million (2021:
approximately HK$29.2 million) of time deposits pledged for banking facilities.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong. Most of the operating transactions
and revenue were settled in Hong Kong dollars and the Group’s assets and
liabilities are primarily denominated in Hong Kong dollars. With the
insignificant portion of monetary transactions and assets denominated in
foreign currencies, the Group did not engage in any derivatives agreement
and did not commit to any financial instrument to hedge its foreign exchange
exposure during the Year (2021: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 March 2022, the gearing ratio (calculated as total debts (including
lease liabilities) divided by the total equity) was approximately 0.7% (2021:
approximately 1.3%).

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

During the Year, the Group invested approximately HK$421,000 (2021:
approximately HK$6.6 million) and HK$82.0 million (2021: Nil) on the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment and investment properties
respectively. Capital expenditure was principally funded by internal resources.

LEASES

During the year ended 31 March 2021
arrangement with Ms. Wong Chun Siu, the spouse of the Controlling
Shareholder, for the use of a warehouse and office premises. Upon initial
recognition, the Group recognised a right-of-use asset and a lease liability of
approximately HK$7,206,000. Pursuant to the supplemental agreement signed
in December 2020, the lease period was changed to fixed lease period of three
years and upon its expiration, it shall be renewable for an additional three

, the Group entered into a new lease

years subject to agreement of terms by both parties. The right-of-use asset
and the lease liability were reduced by approximately HK$3,603,000 and
HK$3,447,000 respectively. Details of the lease arrangement were disclosed in
the announcements of connected transaction of the Company dated 10
December 2020 and supplemental announcement dated 11 January 2021.
During the Year, there is no change in the lease arrangement.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had capital commitments contracted for
property, plant and equipment amounting to approximately HKS$3.1 million
(2021: Nil).

As at 31 March 2022, contingent liabilities not provided for in the financial
statements are guarantees given to a bank for surety bonds of approximately
HK$33.0 million (2021: approximately HK$39.5 million).

As at 31 March 2022, the surety bonds were secured by the pledge of time
deposits of the Group amounting to HK$22,825,000 (2021: HK$29,231,000) and
corporate guarantee executed by the Company amounting to HK$50,000,000
(2021: HK$50,000,000) respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBFWEAS N

In the ordinary course of the Group's construction business, the Group has
been subject to a number of claims due to personal injuries suffered by
employees of the Group or the Group's subcontractors in accidents arising out
of and in the course of their employment. The Directors of the Company are
of the opinion that such claims are well covered by insurance and would not
result in any material adverse impact on the financial position or results and
operations of the Group.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

During the Year, the Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals
of subsidiaries or associated companies.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company'’s listed securities during the Year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

During the Year, the Group did not hold any significant investments.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Future plans and use of
proceeds” in the prospectus (the “Prospectus”) of the Company dated 31
December 2019, the Group did not have any other plans for material
investments or capital assets as at 31 March 2022.

Subsequent to 31 March 2022, the Group entered into a provisional
agreement for sales and purchase of a premise and a car parking space which
is located at Factory B on 4/F and Car Parking Space No. 4 on G/F of Kwai
Shing Industrial Building (Phase 1), 36—40 Tai Lin Pai Road, Kwai Chung, N.T,,
Hong Kong (“the Premises and the Car Parking Space”) with an
independent third party at a consideration of approximately HK$15.7 million
on 8 April 2022. The acquisition of the Premises and the Car Parking Space
have been completed on 1 June 2022. As one or more of the applicable
percentage ratios set out in Rule 14.07 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities ("Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange’) in respect of the acquisition of the Premises and the Car
Parking Space exceeded 5% but all were less than 25%, the acquisition of
Workshop 25A constituted a discloseable transaction for the Company under
Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. For further information in relation to this
acquisition, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 8 April
2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBFWEAS

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING B RERE

The net proceeds from the Listing amounted to approximately HK$78.9 TS ZEF5E (MNE e #HE A RAE A K
million (after deducting the underwriting fees and commissions and all related ~ FrA BB ) X5 780 A EAE T » BERLEA
expenses), which is slightly lower than the estimated net proceeds of & HHIA20200F1 B16 B 20 R ([ o B4
approximately HK$82.5 million as disclosed in the announcement of allotment B ) AE T E 2 (Gt TSI F 548257
results of the Company dated 16 January 2020 (the “Allotment Results”). The & T c XIS RIBFEDIRIBRER [ KK
net proceeds has been adjusted in the same manner and same proportionto 52| R FTERIERE | — 8B EN S IRIE
the use of proceeds as disclosed in the section headed “Future Plans and Use A& EMEE J7 2 R AAR L BIFH 2L « B &= 20224
of Proceeds” in the Prospectus. An analysis of the utilisation of the net 3 831 BBRARAERIBFE Y D& T
proceeds up to 31 March 2022 is set out below:

Actual
utilised Expected
Estimated Adjusted amount from timeframe of
use of use of the Listing Unutilised  full utilisation
proceeds as proceeds Dateto amountasat of unutilised
per Allotment from the 31March 31March amount from
Results Listing 2022 2022 the share offer
EEBAKRE
RED B RELm BEWAHE B ROBEN
RZFBR ZFBRIE 2022638310 2022530310 RBALHEN
Bt A% gERERZ HRDALE APALE RHRBER
HKS million HKS million HKS million HKS million
BEAT BEAT BEBT BEET
Satisfying surety bond requirement YRERREEL 327 312 312 -
Upfront costs of our awarded projects 4378 B )31 23R AR 328 314 314 -
Expansion of project management team, 1EAJE B BB - 120 15 105 10 Third quarter of
design team, supporting staff and BGlE L SSTINE 2022
rent a new office THERRAE WHES=ER
General working capital —REEES 50 48 48 -
825 789 779 10

ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 « =& = —/= —FF3iR 11
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBFWEAS N

The unutilised net proceeds as at 31 March 2022 are placed as interest-bearing
deposits with authorised financial institutions or licensed banks in Hong Kong.

The Directors regularly evaluate the Group's business objectives and may

change or modify plans against the changing market condition to ascertain
the business growth of the Group. As at the date of this report, the Directors
do not anticipate any change to the plan as to the use of proceeds and the

unutilised net proceeds will be applied and utilised in the manner consistent

with the proposed allocations and the proposed timeline.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group believes that the risk management practices are important and

uses its best effort to ensure it has sufficiently mitigated the risks present in

our operations and financial position as efficiently and effectively as possible.

Our projects are non-recurring in nature and we generally have to go
through competitive tendering or quotation process to secure new
projects. Failure to continuously secure new projects could materially
affect our sustainability and financial performance;

Mismanagement or delay of project may materially affect our reputation
and financial performance;

We rely on building material suppliers and subcontractors to implement
our projects;

Under-performance by subcontractors or unavailability of
subcontractors may adversely affect our operations, profitability and
reputation;

There may be net cash outflow during certain periods of our operations
due to payment practice and this may affect our ability to secure new
projects and expand our business;

Changes in the supply and costs of building materials, subcontracting
fees and other costs overruns may materially and adversely affect our
operations and profitability; and

Our success significantly depends on the key management and our
ability to attract and retain additional facade works design team staff.

For other risks and uncertainties the Group facing, please refer to the section
headed "Risk Factors” in the Prospectus.
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The Board is pleased to present to the shareholders their annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and through its subsidiaries,
is principally engaged in the provision of aluminium works and related
services and trading of tools and equipment in Hong Kong. Details and
particulars of the Group's subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the financial
statements. There was no significant change in the Group's principal activities
during the Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The review of the business of the Group for the Year and the discussion on the
Group's business development are set out in the sections headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Chairman’s Statement” on pages
6 to 12, and pages 4 to 5 of this annual report, respectively. The Group's
segment information and revenue for the Year are set out in notes 10 and 8 to
the financial statements. The Group’s key relationship with its stakeholders
(including employees, customers and suppliers) who have a significant impact
on the Group and on which the Group's success depends, is set out in this
report. Principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group are set out in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 12 of
this annual report. These discussions form part of the Report of the Directors.

Environmental, Social and Governance Policies

The Group is committed to protecting the environment, fulfilling social
responsibility and promoting employee benefits and development to achieve
sustainable growth of its business. For more details of the Group's
performances in environmental and social aspects, please refer to the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” section of this annual report.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

During the Year, the Group was not aware of material non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on the business
and operations of the Group.

vy

NN

Report of the Directors

EFERE

EEEMARRREZAFEFREAEER
REE 2 EECHEAMERE -

ETEEH

ARRAA—MRERRAR  WEBHNER
AEERNEBREDE TR RABREULE
BTARRE - AEEMEAR 2 FEHRRE
BMEME - RAFE  AEENEBES
EHLMEALD -

£ dE)-

AEBRAFENEHOBEMAEEXBERR
MmO RSN AN ERFENRAEN[EEE
AmEDH | —ERFAESEN [ EFERE
—ff - AERERAFEND HER KK mEHR
ISR ME 08 - RIREHIIAEE LY
HABEAFZENFNE(BHEEER  EFPR
HEBNEITERER AEENKDBEBRZE
FihE - AEBEHEBRNEARR &K EELE
FIRARFRFE12EH [ETEE i E O
—f o RENREBNEEEREN D

BE - HgRERBE
AEBEBNONRERE BIIHERERER
BEBAMEER  ABREERMN A 5 EE
- AREAKERREREE T HARIRAE
—FHIE FR2HAFRIRE HEREA
wE|

BFHEBEERESR
RAFER  AEEBY TANEBRERREAE
BEBGREEELEATENEREARIOER -

ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 - — & = —/— —FF#f 13



4

¢
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy, pursuant to which the Board, in
declaring or recommending a payment of dividends, to allow shareholders of
the Company to participate in the Company’s profits whilst retains sufficient
reserves for future growth of the Group.

The declaration and payment of any dividends by the Company would be
subject to the Board's decision and any final dividend for a financial year of the
Company would be subject to the shareholders’ approval.

In deciding whether to recommend the payment of any dividends and the
amount of any dividends, the Board shall take into account, inter alia:

the general financial condition of the Group;
capital and debt level of the Group;

future cash requirements and availability for business operations,
business strategies and future development needs;

any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the
Group’s lenders;

the general market conditions; and
any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The payment of dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and any other applicable
laws, rules and regulations and the Articles of Association of the Company.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the Year and the state of affairs of the Company
and of the Group as at 31 March 2022 are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 62 to 147 of this annual report. The Board has resolved
not to recommend the declaration of final dividend to shareholders of the
Company for the Year.
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CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming annual general meeting is scheduled to be held on 26
August 2022 (the "AGM"). For determining eligibility to attend and vote at the
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from 23 August
2022 to 26 August 2022, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer
of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to attend and vote at the
AGM, all share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the share registrar of the Company in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's
Road East, Hong Kong (to be changed to 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong with effect from 15 August 2022), for registration
not later than 4:30 p.m. on 22 August 2022.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 18 to the financial statements of this annual
report.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of investment properties of the Group during the Year are set out in
note 20 to the financial statements of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS, SUBCONTRACTORS AND
SUPPLIERS

The approximate percentages of the Group's revenue and cost of sales
attributable to major customers and suppliers (which generally includes
subcontractors and material suppliers) during the Year and year ended 31
March 2022 are as follows:

Approximate % of total revenue:
from the largest customer
from the five largest customers
in aggregate
Approximate % of total cost of sales:

RABPAL
£j(%}5 = /\{Ett

AT RIRAHER AR

LRI RN
from the largest supplier =AM ERGEL
from the five largest suppliers AREEEE HGL

in aggregate

ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 - —%&

Y N\
Report of the Directors

EFERE

TERERDBFECFR

FEER2022F8A20BRITEERRAFTRE
((BRRBERE]) - BETLERREAFTAS
WHRE ERERNER  ARA)KH2022F8 A
BHE202F8A208 (BIFEEMAB) BHEE
ERBEREECLTE  HETSETALTN
BHBFERT - %ﬁfﬂx%ﬂiﬁﬁ)&ﬁ“*t
BE BERMBEXHEREERENER
BR202F8 AR TTFHEE=+2RXRER
RAEBRNHBEFECLEEEBESFELERA
Al (MU ABEBERRNER183RA TR 541E
(ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂmozzim15E|;£EE&U%E%E*“
BI6RERSEPLI7E))

MK - BERRE

RAFE  RNEBOWE - BB MK
BEN AN F IR IR MTTE 18

BB

BREYHE
AEBRAFENEREMEFBIN AT IR
TEIREMIFE20 ©

TERF - REHATRHED

AEBETEREREEE(BEBENEHE
RMEHEER ) RAFE RE Z 202293 A31

B LE R (A ok ad T S AR E S L
W -

Year ended

31 March 2021
HZE 2021 F
3A31H
IEFEE

Year ended
31 March 2022

HZE2022F
3A31H
IEFE

AT EBEEEEmEOBHOB DL

61.7 59.2
94.9 98.3
13.0 126
43.3 383

T/ HEER 15




4

h

Report of the Directors

EFERE

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their
close associates (as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules")) or any shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company'’s issued
share capital) had an any beneficial interest in these major customers or
suppliers.

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Directors are of the view that employees, customers, sub-contractors and
suppliers are the keys to the sustainable development of the Group.

Employees

Employees are regarded as valuable assets of the Group. The objective of the
Group's human resource management is to reward and recognise well-
performed staff by providing a competitive remuneration package and
implementing a sound performance appraisal system with appropriate
incentives. In particular, the Group promotes career development and
advancement by providing appropriate training and opportunities in order to
enhance the employees’ work performance.

Customers

The Group's major customers include main contractors for our design and
build projects while we are mainly engaged by owners and tenants of
properties, and their contractors for renovation projects. The Group has
established long-term business relationship with these customers for many
years and committed to offer quality service to meet their requirement. The
Group endeavours to maintain contacts with these customers regularly in
order to understand their needs and provide required service to support their
businesses.

Subcontractors and Material Suppliers

The Group has developed a long-standing relationship with a number of
subcontractors and material suppliers and the Group has always been
communicating closely with them to ensure that there will be good quality
and sustainable goods and services provided to the Group. When selecting
subcontractors and material suppliers, the Group often requires them to
satisfy certain criteria such as experience and capability, financial strength,
track record, and reputation.

BANK BORROWINGS

The Group did not made any bank borrowings during the Year.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the Year in the share capital of the Company are
set out in note 30 to the financial statements of this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and Group during the
Year are set out in note 31 to the financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 65 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2022, the Company had distributable reserves amounted to
approximately HK$64.4 million.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chen Yuet Wa (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Fai

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chow Chi Fai
Mr. Chan Hon Ki
Mr. Yu Chi Wing

In accordance with article 84 of the Company’s articles of association (the
“Articles of Association”), Mr. Chai Fai and Mr. Chow Chi Fai will retire and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. The Directors’ biographical details are set
out in the section headed “Biographies of the Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report. Information regarding Directors’
emoluments is set out in note 15(a) to the financial statements of this annual
report.

Annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules has been received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors. The Group considers all independent non-executive Directors to be
independent under the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, unless
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either
party on the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors have entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of two years commencing from
the Listing Date, unless terminated by not less than three month’s notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the Year, no contract, other than the Directors’ service contracts and
appointment letters, concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the Company’s business was entered into or
existed.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in notes 15(a) and 15(b) to the financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2022, interests and short positions in the Shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(“SFO")) held by the Directors and chief executive of the Company which have
been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or have been entered in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise have been
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the "Model Code”) in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules are as follows:

(i) Long position in our Shares

Name of Director

BEEHS

Capacity/Nature
510,/ HE

Interest in a controlled
corporation (note)
SYEHLEBEER ()

Mr. Chen Yuet Wa

PRLEE S A

Note: 750,000,000 Shares are registered in the name of Ornate Bright Limited ("Ornate
Bright"), the entire issued capital of which is legally and beneficially owned by Mr.
Chen Yuet Wa, our executive Director. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chen Yuet Wa is
deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Ornate Bright.

(ii) Long position in the shares of associated corporation

Name of
associated
corporation

B EE AR

Capacity/
Nature

54 HE

Name of Director

ESHR

Mr. Chen Yuet Wa Ornate Bright Beneficial Owner
RMELLE g BEaEAA

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in the
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under the Model Code.
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EZED
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 March 2022, so far as it is known by or otherwise notified by any
Director or the chief executive of the Company, the particulars of the
corporations or individuals (other than a Director or chief executive of the
Company) who had or were deemed or taken to have an interest or short
position in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

LONG POSITION IN THE SHARES

Capacity/Nature of interest

510, HEMHE

FTERRNRD R ABEKR G ES
599

R202F3A31H  BARRIEMNESHTE
TN BT AN A E A 5 S FTIERE - AR F
B EABERDTFHREE IR AW EEHEE
AIREBHFREEGRMNEXVIE 2 K37 EbE
XAAD R ERAEREES RAEENE
BEFEMELMALENER AR AL
EEA(RRRESZHFEZITHRABRIN B
HBEWT

Ornate Bright Beneficial owner (note 1)
=2 BEamlEa A (MEE1)
Ms. Wong Chun Siu Interest of spouse (note 2)
wBHEXZ L fo@tgss (MeE2)

Notes:

1. Ornate Bright is wholly-owned by Mr. Chen Yuet Wa.

2. Ms. Wong Chun Siu is the spouse of Mr. Chen Yuet Wa and is deemed or taken to be
interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Chen Yuet Wa has, or is deemed to have, an interest
for the purposes of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, the Company had not been
notified by any persons who had interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO.

COMPETING INTERESTS

The Directors are not aware of any business or interest of the Directors, the
controlling shareholders of the Company or any of their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) that compete or may compete,
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group and any other conflicts of
interest which any such person has or may have with the Group and is
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules during the
Year.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Each of Mr. Chen Yuet Wa and Ornate Bright, which is beneficially and wholly
owned by Mr. Chen Yuet Wa, as a covenantor (each a “Covenantor’,
collectively, “Covenantors”’) entered into a non-competition undertaking
dated 12 December 2019 in favour of the Group (the “Non-Competition
Undertaking").

Each of the Covenantors has made an annual declaration to the Company
that, he/it has complied with the terms of Non-Competition Undertaking. The
Independent Non-executive Directors have also reviewed the compliance of
the Non-Competition Undertaking from the Covenantors and were satisfied
that the Covenanters have complied with the Non-Competition Undertaking
during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage for Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising from corporate activities.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or
any of them, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or supposed duty in their
respective offices, except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through
their own fraud or dishonesty.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as otherwise disclosed, no transaction, arrangement or contracts of
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director or any entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the Year.
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as otherwise disclosed, no contract of significance to which the
Company, its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in
which the controlling shareholders’ of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the Year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year and up to the date of this annual report was the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or
debentures of the Company or any body corporate.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws of
the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on
a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

CONNECTED/RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Connected transaction

On 1 August 2020, the Group entered into a new lease arrangement with Ms.
Wong Chun Siu, the spouse of the Controlling Shareholder, for the use of a
warehouse and office premises with fixed lease period of one year and
optional lease period of five years. Upon initial recognition, in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 16 Leases ("HKFRS 16") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Group recognised
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability of approximately HK$7.2 million.
Pursuant to the supplemental agreement signed in December 2020, the lease
period was changed to fixed lease period of three years and upon its
expiration, it shall be renewable for an additional three years subject to
agreement of terms by both parties. The right-of-use asset and the lease
liability were reduced by approximately HK$3.6 million and HK$3.4 million
respectively.

As the highest applicable percentage ratio in respect of the new lease
agreement calculated based on the value of the right-of-use asset recognised
by the Group pursuant to HKFRS 16 exceeds 0.1% but is less than 5%, the
transaction contemplated under the new lease agreement are subject to the
reporting and announcement requirements but are exempted from
independent shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Details of the lease arrangement were disclosed in the announcements of

connected transaction of the Company dated 10 December 2020 and
supplemental announcement dated 11 January 2021.
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Continuing connected transactions

The related party transaction as disclosed in note 37(b) to the financial
statements of this annual report constituted continuing connected
transactions within the meaning of the Listing Rules. Details of such
transactions have been disclosed in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules and summarised below:

AR 2 BEBEERKL
S e E R (KT AE)

Lease payments paid to Ms. Wong Chun Siu,
the spouse of the Controlling Shareholder
(note)

Note:

During the Year, the Group entered into a new lease arrangement with Ms. Wong Chun Siu for the
use of a warehouse and office premises. Ms. Wong Chun Siu is the spouse of the Controlling
Shareholder, therefore, Ms. Wong Chun Siu is a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules. Accordingly, under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the transaction contemplated under the
new lease agreement constitute a continuing connected transaction of the Company.

As each of the applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) in respect of the continuing
connected transaction contemplated under the new lease agreement (on an annualised basis)
fulfilled the exemption of de minimis transactions under Listing Rules 14A.76 and was therefore
exempted from reporting, annual review and independent shareholders’ approval.

Details of the lease arrangement were disclosed in the announcements of connected transaction of
the Company dated 10 December 2020 and supplemental announcement dated 11 January 2021.

Save as disclosed above, there were no connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions of the Company as defined under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of the reporting,
announcement or independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
the Listing Rules. Details of the significant related party transactions
undertaken in the normal course of business are set out in the note 37 to the
financial statements of this annual report. Save as disclosed above, none of the
related party transactions as disclosed constituted disclosable non-exempted
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules and the Company had complied with the relevant
requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the Year.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme was conditionally adopted by the Company on 12
December 2019 (the “Share Option Scheme”) and shall be valid until 12
December 2029. Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, certain eligible
participants including, among others, the Directors and employees of the
Group may be granted option to subscribe for shares. The purpose of the
Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives or rewards to participants for
their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit and
retain high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are valuable
to the Group. A Summary of principal terms of the Share Option Scheme is set
out in the paragraph headed “D. Share Option Scheme” in Appendix IV to the
Prospectus.

Pursuant to the terms of the Share Option Scheme and in compliance with
the provisions in Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, the maximum number of
Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and all share option schemes of the
Company shall not exceed 100,000,000 Shares, being 10% of the Shares in
issue as at the date of this annual report.

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted under the Share Option Scheme to eligible
participants in any 12 months period up to the date of grant shall not exceed
1% of the Shares in issue as at the date of grant. Any further grant of options in
excess of this 1% limit shall be subject to the approval of Shareholders in a
general meeting.

An offer of the grant of a share option shall be accepted by the eligible
participants within a period of seven days from the date of offer of grant of the
option. The consideration paid by each grantee for the acceptance and grant
of each share option is HK$1.00, which has to be paid within seven days.

Unless approved by Shareholders in a general meeting, the amount of Shares
which can be awarded to a substantial Shareholder or an independent non-
executive Director or their respective associates in the Share Option Scheme
in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant for any
particular aforementioned person in aggregate, is at maximum 0.1% of the
Shares in issue and having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of
the Shares at the date of each grant, of a maximum of HK$5.0 million.

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted
under the Share Option Scheme shall be such price as determined by the
Board and shall not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets on the date of
grant of the option, which must be a trading date; (ii) the average of the
closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation
sheets for the five trading dates immediately preceding the date of grant of
the option; or (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no option has been granted.

Therefore, no option was exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the Year and
there was no option outstanding as at 31 March 2022.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save and except for the Share Option Scheme disclosed, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Company during the Year or subsisted
at the end of the year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirmed that the Company
has maintained a sufficient amount of public float for the Shares as required
under the Listing Rules during the Year.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Company's securities.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young retired as auditors of the Company on 17 November 2021. RSM
Hong Kong was appointed as auditors of the Company on 17 November 2021.

Save for the abovementioned changes, in any of the preceding three years,
the auditors of the Company had not been changed.

RSM Hong Kong will retire at the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM of the
Company and be eligible to offer themselves for re-appointment.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The details of the Group's corporate governance practices are set out in the
section headed “Corporate Governance Report” from pages 29 to 39 of this
annual report.

On behalf of the Board
Chen Yuet Wa
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 30 June 2022
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Yuet Wa, aged 44, is the founder of our Group, our Chairman, our
executive Director, our chief executive officer and one of our Controlling
Shareholders. He is also the chairperson of our nomination committee and a
member of our remuneration committee. He is primarily responsible for
overall business strategy, annual budget proposals and major business
decision of our Group. He is also a director of each of our Group’s subsidiaries.

Mr. Chen Yuet Wa found our Group in May 2007 and has more than 15 years
of experience in the facade works industry. In April 2002, he established Wa
Kee Company, a sole proprietorship in Hong Kong which principally engaged
in the provision of aluminum window works in Hong Kong. Wa Kee Company
subsequently ceased business in March 2011 after the establishment of Wah
Kee in May 2007.

Mr. Chan Fai, aged 45, is one of our executive Directors. He is primarily
responsible for project management and supervision of our subcontractors’

work.

Mr. Chan has more than 19 years of experience in the construction industry in
Hong Kong. Since April 2010, he has been working for our Group and is
currently the general manager of Wah Kee.

Mr. Chan obtained a certificate of completion of apprenticeship issued by the
director of apprenticeship in December 2002 and a higher diploma in building
studies from the Vocational Training Council in July 2006.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chow Chi Fai, aged 51, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Directors ("INED”) on 12 December 2019. He is also the chairperson of our
audit committee and a member of our remuneration committee. He is
primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent judgment to
our Board, our audit committee and remuneration committee.

Mr. Chow has over 21 years of experience in the accounting and finance
industry. Since December 2008, he has been the financial controller and
company secretary of Elife Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 223) and the INED of
Sun Hing Vision Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 125). He is appointed as
the INED of Silver Base Group Holdings Limited (In Liquidation) (Stock code:
886) since December 2021.

26 Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited - ZEFZ A& £ B G R A 7]

BITES

BRBELE 4457 AREWRIMA - T/E -
WITES  TRAMFRIERBRRZ — TRRE
HEBRIFMFMEEGKE - WERAR
AEENBERERRE FERESRNLTE
EIEREK - WINRAREEHBEBRRNES -

PRANZE S AR 2007 F5 ARSI AEE » WM
ETRITEERE STFLER - N2002F4A
BREBEBKLBECEERQNR  TBEEE
WERMIEE TR - 7200755 AKAE
g ERARMEER 201 F3AEILEER -

BRIERLE 4558 REMNATEFEZ — - &
TEEEEAEENEBRHEIE-

BRIBAEN B ERRTEREA10FLER - B
2010F4A# H—EETBARAEER - BAlA
LB o

PRIBSCAER 2002 F 12 ABSHBERHERE
WEFEEXESE - BMN2006F7 AESFERE
RPEEBFHUR -

BMYFHITES

BAEBEE 5155 R2019F 12 NAESE
TARBINTES((BLFHTES)) -
NRBEZZESERAFWNEEENE - BE
ZEREEESe ERZEGRTMZES
37 [A) EL AR B ST I o

AEEREHRERERFONFLR - 5
2008F 12 AME  W—ERFESEEERBRA
A(RMOARSE  223) B RERARWE M
EFE 2 EEERAR AR (RMOHRSE : 125)
BEEBMIENTES - B2021F 12 A« K
TR EEBIERAR AR CE&HP) (RMHAR
886) HIB U IEMITES -



V M

NN

Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Chow obtained a bachelor's degree in accountancy from the University of
South Australia in Australia in June 1995. Mr. Chow was admitted as a member
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since March 1999.

Mr. Chan Hon Ki, aged 43, was appointed as an INED on 12 December 2019.
He is also the chairperson of our remuneration committee and a member of
our audit committee and nomination committee. He is primarily responsible
for supervising and providing independent judgement to our Board, our audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee.

Mr. Chan has more than 15 years of accounting and auditing experience. Mr.
Chan is currently the executive director, financial director, chief executive
officer and joint company secretary of Aux International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 2080).

Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor of commerce degree in accountancy, finance
and information systems, and business administration from the University of
Canterbury in New Zealand in April 2000. He was admitted as a member of
The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in April 2004 and a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in July
2012.

Mr. Yu Chi Wing, aged 38, was appointed as an INED on 12 December 2019.
He is also a member of our audit committee and nomination committee. He is
primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent judgement
to our Board, our audit committee and nomination committee.

Mr. Yu has more than 16 years of advisory, accounting, taxation and auditing
experience. In September 2016 and May 2021, Mr. Yu founded JR & Co.,
Certified Public Accountants and co-founded Emerald Capital CPA & Co.
respectively. He is currently an INED of Fameglow Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 8603).

Mr. Yu obtained a bachelor of arts degree with a major in accountancy and a
minor in corporate finance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in June
2005. He was admitted as a member in January 2012 and is currently a
practising member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lam Mau Yuen, aged 49, is the senior design manager of our Group. He
is responsible for overseeing general technical and engineering works, tender
preparation and compliance matters. Mr. Lam has been working for our Group
since March 2017. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Lam worked for various
construction and engineering related companies and he has more than 21
years of experience in the construction industry. Mr. Lam obtained a higher
certificate in building studies from the Vocational Training Council in July
2002.

Mr. Lee Kai Ming, aged 33, is our financial controller and company secretary.
He is responsible for overseeing our financial reporting, financial planning,
treasury, financial control and company secretarial matters. Mr. Lee has over
six years of experience in the accounting industry and he has been working
for our Group since February 2018. Mr. Lee obtained a bachelor of business
administration in accountancy from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
October 2012. He was admitted as a certified public accountant of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants in September 2016.

Mr. Lee Ka Keung, aged 38, is a senior quality control manager of our Group.
He is primarily responsible for overseeing the execution of projects and
supervising workers at construction sites. He has been working for our Group
since June 2011. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Lee worked for several
construction companies and he has more than 11 years of experience in the
construction industry in Hong Kong. Mr. Lee obtained a diploma and a higher
diploma in building services engineering from the Vocational Training Council
in July 2005 and February 2011, respectively. Mr. Lee completed a construction
safety supervisor course organised by the Construction Industry Training
Authority in November 2007.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company strives to attain and maintain a high standard of corporate
governance as it believes that effective corporate governance practices are
fundamental to enhancing shareholders’ value and safeguarding interests of
shareholders and other stakeholders. Accordingly, the Board attributes a high
priority to identifying and implementing appropriate corporate governance
practices to ensure transparency, accountability and effective internal controls.

The Company has adopted all the code provision in the Corporate
Governance Code (the "CG Code”") in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its
own code on corporate governance practices. During the Year, the Company
has complied with the code provisions under the CG Code, except for the
deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code as explained below. The
Company will continue to enhance its corporate governance practices
appropriate to the operation and growth of the business of the Group.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for formulating business strategies and monitoring
the performance of the business of the Group. Other than the daily
operational decisions which are delegated to the management of the Group,
most of the decisions are made by the Board. All Directors, including
independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of
valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for
its efficient and effective functioning.

The Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules
during the Year. The Board is constituted of five members, including two
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.

The composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chen Yuet Wa (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Fai

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chow Chi Fai
Mr. Chan Hon Ki
Mr. Yu Chi Wing

Biographical details of each Director are set out on pages 26 to 28 of this
annual report.
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The Company has signed a letter of appointment with each of the
independent non-executive Directors on 12 December 2019. The principal
particulars of these appointment letters are (a) each of them agreed to act for
an initial term of two year commencing from the Listing Date with a director’s
fee, which may be terminated by not less than three month’ written notice
served by either party on the other, and (b) is subject to termination provisions
therein and provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the
Articles.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors shall retire
from office by rotation at each annual general meeting and every Director
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every 3 years. However,
a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the independent non-executive
Directors. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines
during the Year and up to the date of this annual report. The Company has
also complied with Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. One of the independent
non-executive Directors possesses the appropriate professional accounting
qualifications and financial management expertise.

During the Year, five Board meetings and one annual general meeting were
held and the attendance record of each Director is set out in the table below:
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Attendance/Number of Meeting

HERY, EFRE
Annual
General
Directors Board Meeting Meeting
2= EEger BRBFAE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Chen Yuet Wa (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) — PRENZES & (FEFITHAZE) 5/5 1/1
Mr. Chan Fai BRI % A& 5/5 1/1
Independent non-executive Directors BYEHITES
Mr. Chow Chi Fai [BEE L& 5/5 1/1
Mr. Chan Hon Ki BRIEH LA 5/5 1/1
Mr. Yu Chi Wing FEEEE 5/5 1/1
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Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and related materials,
and the advice and services of the Company Secretary, and has the liberty to
seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense if so
reasonably required. Directors will be continuously updated on the major
development of the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate
governance practices. The Company expects to convene at least four regular
Board meetings in each financial year at approximately quarterly intervals in
accordance with code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code.

According to code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the role of the chairman
and the chief executive officer of the Company should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. During the Year, the role of the
chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company are both performed
by Mr. Chen Yuet Wa. In view of Mr. Chen Yuet Wa's role in the day-to-day
management and operations of the Group, being one of the Controlling
Shareholders of the Group and as one of the Directors if not the sole director
of other members of the Group, as at the date of this annual report, the Board
believes that it is more effective and efficient overall business planning and
implementation of business decisions and strategies of the Group that it shall
be in the best interests of the Group for Mr. Chen Yuet Wa to take up the dual
roles of chairman and chief executive officer of the Company. Therefore, the
Board considers that the deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code is
appropriate in such circumstance and that there are sufficient checks and
balances in place by the operations of the Board, which comprises
experienced and high calibre individuals and adequate independent element
in the composition of the Board. The Board will continue to review and
consider splitting the roles of chairman and chief executive officer of the
Company at a time when it is appropriate and suitable by taking into account
the circumstances of the Group as a whole. The Directors are aware that the
Company is expected to comply with the CG Code. Any deviation from the CG
Code should be carefully considered and disclosed in the interim and annual
report. Save as disclosed above, the Company will continue to comply with
the CG Code to protect the best interests of the shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the transactions of
securities of the Company by the Directors and the relevant employees (who
likely possess inside information of the Company) (the “Securities Dealing
Code") on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. All Directors
have confirmed, following specific enquiries by the Company, that they fully
complied with the Model Code and the Securities Dealing Code during the
Year.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

The Company encourages the Directors to attend any relevant programme to
further enhance their knowledge so as to enable them to discharge their
duties and responsibilities more effectively. Prior to the Listing Date, all
Directors have been given relevant guideline materials and attended a training
regarding the duties and responsibilities of being a Director, the CG Code, the
Listing Rules and applicable laws and regulations and duty of disclosure of
interest. Such induction materials and briefing will also be provided to newly
appointed Directors shortly upon their appointment as Directors. Continuing
briefings and professional development to Directors will be arranged from
time to time.

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with the code provision
A.6.5 of the CG Code on Directors' training. During the period under review, all
Directors have participated in continuous professional development by
attending seminars/in-house briefing/reading materials to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills.

All Directors have provided record of their training attendance and the

Company will continue to arrange and fund the training in accordance with
the CG Code.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the audit committee the
"Audit Committee’), the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) and the remuneration committee (the "Remuneration
Committee”). The table below provides the membership information of these
committees on which certain Board members served:
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REEE®)) REZES((REZEESE)LH
WZEe2((HFMEEE]) - TREHREZXFZ
BERIRUMNETEFTERB ZKBER

B ER - AR R]IR
1

yill
ST R 22 B 51 Ko A 4 )1 93

Board Committee Audit Remuneration Nomination
EEXEE Committee Committee Committee
Director
2= EREEE FMESE REEEE
Mr. Chen Yuet Wa PR EE ST A& - M C
Mr. Chan Fai BeR S0 A= - - -
Mr. Chow Chi Fai AFEEE A C M -
Mr. Chan Hon Ki PR H S A M C M
Mr. Yu Chi Wing FEEEE M - M
Notes: M5
C: Chairman of the relevant committees C: HEEZE

M: Member of the relevant committees
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee on 12 December 2019 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules and the CG
Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, among others, (a)
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of the external auditors and approving the remuneration and
terms of engagement of the external auditors; (b) reviewing the Company'’s
financial statements, the annual report and accounts and the half-year report
and significant financial reporting judgments contained therein; and (c)
reviewing the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems.

During the Year, the Audit Committee has held two meetings to review the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and the financial
results for the six months ended 30 September 2021 and the Year. The
individual attendance record of each member at the meeting of Audit
Committee is set out below:

Name of member of the Audit Committee

ERZEEREHSR

Mr. Chow Chi Fai (Chairman) BEBEE(EE)

Mr. Chan Hon Ki PREIH ST A

Mr. Yu Chi Wing FEELEE
NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 12 December 2019
with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The primary
duties of the Nomination Committee include, among others, (a) reviewing the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board at least annually and making recommendations on
any proposed changes to the Board to complement the corporate strategy; (b)
identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of the Board and
selecting or making recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships; (c) assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors; (d) making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of and succession planning for
the Directors; (e) reviewing the board diversity policy of the Company (‘Board
Diversity Policy”); and (f) developing and reviewing, as appropriate, the
policy for the nomination of Directors.
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During the Year, the Nomination Committee held a meeting and the
attendance record of each Director is set out in the table below:

Name of member of the Nomination Committee

REZEEREHS

Mr. Chen Yuet Wa (Chairman) PR EE S A (£ )
Mr. Chan Hon Ki PREIE ST A&

Mr. Yu Chi Wing FEEEE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 12 December
2019 with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules and
the CG Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee, under the
principle that no Director or any of his associates should be involved in
deciding his own remuneration include, among others, making
recommendations to the Board on (a) the remuneration policy and structure
for all of the Directors and senior management; (b) the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies; (c)
the remuneration packages of the executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or termination of their
offices or appointments; and (d) the remuneration of the non-executive
Directors.

During the Year, a meeting was held and the attendance record of each
Director is set out in the table below:

Name of member of the Remuneration Committee

FEEEREHE

Mr. Chan Hon Ki (Chairman) PROEHE S E (EE)
Mr. Chen Yuet Wa PR EE S A

Mr. Chow Chi Fai BAEELE

Full details of remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid
employees are set out in notes 15(a) and 15(b) to the financial statements of
this annual report.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted the board diversity policy which sets out the approach
to achieve a sustainable and balanced development of the Company and also
to enhance the quality of performance of the Company. In designing the
Board’s composition, the Board has been considering from a number of
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, experience (professional or otherwise), skills, and
knowledge. The ultimate decision is based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the board diversity policy from time to
time to ensure its continued effectiveness and monitor its implementation by
conducting review of the Board's composition at least once annually.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
for the purpose to identify and evaluate a candidate for nomination to the
Board for appointment or to the shareholders for election as a Director. The
Nomination Committee shall consider, among others, the following criteria in
evaluating and selecting candidates for directorships:

Reputation for integrity;

Accomplishment, experience and reputation in the relevant industry
and other relevant sectors;

Commitment in respect of sufficient time, interest and attention to the
Company's business;

Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, experience (professional or otherwise),
skills and knowledge;

The ability to assist and support management and make significant
contributions to the Company's success;

Compliance with the criteria of independence as prescribed under Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules for the appointment of an independent non-
executive Director; and

Any other relevant factors as may be determined by the Committee or
the Board from time to time.
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Each proposed new appointment, election or re-election of a Director shall be
assessed and/or considered against the criteria and qualifications set out in
the Nomination Policy by the Nomination Committee which shall recommend
its views to the Board and/or the shareholders for consideration and
determination.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lee Kai Ming, was appointed as the company secretary on 12 December
2019. The company secretary reports to the chief executive officer directly and
is responsible to the Board for ensuring that the Board procedures, applicable
laws, rules and regulations are followed as well as the Board activities are
efficiently and effectively conducted. He is also responsible for ensuring that
the Board is fully appraised of the relevant corporate governance
developments relating to the Group and facilitating the induction and
professional development of the Directors. During the Year, Mr. Lee Kai Ming
has undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in
accordance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for overseeing the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year, which give
a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group on a going concern
basis and are in compliance with the relevant accounting standard and
principles, applicable laws and disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules. The
Directors aim to present a clear and understandable assessment of the
Group's financial position and prospects. The Board is not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of the external auditors with respect to the financial
reporting are set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” of this annual
report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

One of the major functions of the Board is to maintain an adequate risk
management and internal control systems to safeguard shareholders’
investments and the Group's assets, and reviewing their effectiveness annually
through the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee reports to the Board on
any material issues and makes recommendations to the Board.
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Policies and procedures have been designed to safeguard assets against
unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper
accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information for
internal use or for publication, and ensure compliance with applicable law,
rules and regulations. The policies and procedures provide a reasonable
assurance that material misstatements or losses are prevented, potential
interruption of the Group’s management system is detected, and risks existing
in the course of arriving at the Group's objectives are properly managed.

During the Year, the Company engaged an external independent consulting
firm to review the effectiveness of certain of the Group’s risk management and
internal controls systems. Relevant recommendations made by the consultant
have already been implemented in stages by the Group to further enhance its
internal control policies, procedures and practices. The Board considered that
the Group's risk management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate during the Year.

The Group has conducted an annual review on whether there is a need for an
internal audit department. Given the Group's relatively simple corporate and
operation structure, as opposed to diverting resources to establish a separate
internal audit department, the Board, supported by the Audit Committee, is
directly responsible for risk management and internal control systems of the
Group and for reviewing its effectiveness.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the Year, RSM Hong Kong was engaged as the Group's independent
auditors. The statement of the auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the Year
is set out in the “Independent Auditor's Report” of this annual report. During
the Year, the remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s auditors, RSM
Hong Kong, and its affiliated firms, in respect of their audit and non-audit
services was as follows:
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DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INSURANCE

Appropriate insurance covers on Directors’ liabilities have been in force to
protect the Directors and officers of the Group from their risk exposure from
the business of the Group.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with all
shareholders. The Company believes that maintaining a high level of
transparency is a key to enhance investor relations.

The Company has established several communication channels, including (a)
the annual and extraordinary general meetings which provide a forum for
shareholders to communicate directly with the Board; (b) printed corporate
documents mailing to shareholders; (c) announcement disseminating the
latest activities of the Group on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange; and (d) the Company’s website providing an electronic means of
communication.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an EGM

The following procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting ("EGM") are subject to the Articles of Association (as
amended from time to time), and the applicable legislations and regulations,
in particular the Listing Rules (as amended from time to time):

(@)  Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association, any one or more
shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company (the “Eligible
Shareholder(s)") carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to
the Board or the Company Secretary, to require an EGM to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition;

(b)  The written requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, signed
by the Eligible Shareholder(s) and deposited to the Board or the
Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business at Flat
A & D, 4/F, Phase 1, Kwai Shing Industrial Building, 36-40 Tai Lin Pai
Road, Kwai Chung, New Territories Hong Kong, and such may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more
requisitionists;
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(©)  The requisition must state clearly the name of the Eligible Shareholder(s)
concerned, his/her/their shareholding, the reason(s) to convene an EGM
and the details of the business(es) proposed to be transacted in the
EGM, and must be signed by the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned
together with a deposit of a sum of money reasonable sufficient to
meet the Company's expenses in serving the notice of the resolution
and circulating the statement submitted by the shareholders concerned
in accordance with the statutory requirements to all the registered
shareholders;

(d)  The requisition will be verified with Hong Kong branch share registrar
and transfer office of the Company and upon their confirmation that
the requisition is proper and in order, the Board will convene an EGM by
serving sufficient notice in accordance with the requirements under the
Articles to all the registered shareholders. On the contrary, if the
requisition has been verified as not in order or the shareholders
concerned have failed to deposit sufficient money to meet the
Company’s expenses for the said purposes, the Eligible Shareholder(s)
concerned will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, the Board
will not call for an EGM; and

(e)  If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting the Eligible Shareholder(s) himself/herself/themselves
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the Eligible Shareholder(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the Eligible Shareholder(s) by the Company.

Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board
Shareholders may, at any time, direct enquiries to the Board. Such enquiries
can be addressed to the Company Secretary in writing by mail to the
Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong at Flat A & D, 4/F, Phase 1,
Kwai Shing Industrial Building, 36-40 Tai Lin Pai Road, Kwai Chung, New
Territories Hong Kong.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at shareholders’
meeting

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands for Shareholders to put forward proposals at general
meetings of the Company. Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals
may request the Company to convene an extraordinary general meeting in
accordance with the procedures set out above.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

During the Year, there were no changes to the constitutional documents of
the Company.
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BE HERELIRS

SECTION1 INTRODUCTION

Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the "Group”) is principally an established contractor engaged in facade
works with a focus on window in Hong Kong. Facade works can be classified
into window, window wall system, curtain wall system and other facade
members. We principally provide design and build services for new buildings
and renovation services for built premises. Our services generally include
developing designs, conducting structural calculations and preparing shop
drawings, as well as management and coordination of various aspects of a
project which involve procurements of building materials from materials
suppliers and/or subcontracting of installation works to our subcontractors,
on-site project management and post-project completion and maintenance
services.

The Group incorporates environmental, social and governance ("ESG")
approaches into its daily management to achieve the optimum balance on its
economic performance, environmental protection, social responsibility, and
stakeholder satisfaction.

The Board is fully committed to formulating and implementing ESG strategies.
Its ESG performance is supervised by the Board members. Relevant risks and
opportunities have been embedded into the Group's strategic goals, which
are also closely aligned with the overall mission and vision on sustainability.
While developing the Group's goals, we firmly adhered to principles of good
corporate governance and had carefully considered our activities’ influences
on the environment and the Hong Kong society. Corporate social
responsibilities were also integrated into the Group's business strategy and
management approach.

The Group is delighted to present the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report ("ESG Report’) for the year ended 31 March 2022 ("Reporting
Period") in the following to illustrate and highlight our efforts and
performance in achieving sustainable development in both the environment
and social aspects.
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SECTION2 ABOUT THIS REPORT

This ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on Main Board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited ("ESG Reporting Guide"), with the aim to inform relevant
parties and stakeholders of our policies, measures and performance regarding
environmental, social and governance issues. To ensure a comprehensive ESG
reporting, we would continuously take note of different ESG issues and assess
their relevance to our ESG reporting.

The Group attaches great importance to materiality, quantitative, balance and
consistency during the preparation of the ESG Report. The Group has applied
these reporting principles in the aforementioned ESG Reporting Guide as the
following:

Materiality: Materiality assessment was conducted to identify material
issues during the Reporting Period, thereby adopting the confirmed
material issues as the focus for the preparation of the ESG Report. The
materiality of issues was reviewed and confirmed by the Board and the
ESG Management Team. Please refer to the section headed “Materiality
Assessment” for further details.

Quantitative: The standards and methodologies used in calculation of
relevant data in the ESG Report, as well as the applicable assumptions
were disclosed. The KPIs were supplemented by explanatory notes to
establish benchmarks where feasible.

Balance: The ESG Report was prepared based on an objective and
impartial manner to ensure that the information disclosed faithfully
reflects the overall ESG performance of the Group.

Consistency: The statistical methodologies applied to this ESG Report
were substantially consistent with the previous year, and explanations
were provided regarding data with changes in the scope of disclosure
and calculation methodologies. If there are any changes that may affect
comparison with previous reports, the Group will add comments to the
corresponding content of this ESG Report.

The scope of this ESG Report includes WWHG and its principal operating
subsidiaries. ESG Report has undergone the internal review process of the
Group and was approved by the Board.
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SECTION3 ENVIRONMENTAL

A1.

42

Emissions

The Group is committed to complying with laws and regulations
regarding environmental protection. It adopts effective measures to
achieve resource efficiency, energy saving, and waste reduction. To
reduce its impacts on the environment, the Group implements green
office practices such as encouraging the use of recycled paper for
printing and copying, double-sided printing and copying, and reducing
energy consumption by switching off idling lights, air conditioners, and
other electrical appliances. The Group strictly complies with applicable
laws and regulations concerning environmental protection and
pollution control, including, but not limited to: Air Pollution Control
Ordinance, Noise Control Ordinance, and Waste Disposal Ordinance.

We recognize the importance of quality control and has established an
adequate quality management system. The quality management
system of the Group for the design, supply and installation of aluminum
works is accredited by Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency with the
standards of the International Organization for Standardization (“1ISO")
9001:2015 on 28 November 2013 and the certificate will be valid until
27 November 2022. We have in-house quality assurance requirements
specifying, inter alia, specific work procedures for performing various
types of works and responsibilities of personnel of different levels. Our
staff is required to comply with these quality assurance requirements.

To safeguard our employees and other stakeholders against health and
safety risks associated with our operations, out of our project
management team members, four of them were qualified to act as
safety supervisors and had completed the construction industry safety
supervisor course held by the Construction Industry Council or the
safety & health supervisor (construction) course held by the
Occupational Health & Safety Council as at the Latest Practicable Date.

We pay due regards to compliance with laws and regulations that is
relevant to our Group. At the same time, to uphold our corporate
socially responsibilities, we care for our community members by actively
participate in public welfare or charity events.

No material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating
to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste had been
identified during the Reporting Period.
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A1.1: Emissions
The office did not generate direct air emissions. Renovation works
carried out by sub-contractors may generate some indoor air
pollutants, and the liability shall be borne by the sub-contractors.
Meanwhile, the Group has deployed project managers at the site
to supervise sub-contractors’ work.

A1.2: Greenhouse Gas (“GHG"”) Emissions

Emissions from the Group were generated mainly from the
consumption of mobile fuel (i.e. gasoline for the Group-owned
vehicles). The Group-owned vehicles consuming fuel were used
for daily business operations. Their combustion generated several
air emissions including Nitrogen Oxides, Sulphur Oxides, and
Respiratory Suspended Particles. Due to lack of data, only
Nitrogen Oxides and Respiratory Suspended Particles could be
calculated. The following presents the Group’s Greenhouse Gas

(“GHG") emissions for the Reporting Period:

GHG emissions from use of vehicles:

Aspects 1.2 Unit
fEE1.2 B
Nitrogen Oxides gram
=Rl e =)
Respiratory Suspended Particles gram
AR AR RERL YY) )

A1.3: Hazardous Waste

The Group did not generate a significant amount of hazardous
waste due to its business nature. Thus, no data was recorded, and
no policy has been formulated.

A1.4: Non-hazardous Waste

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with the Waste
Disposal Ordinance and did not aware there was material non-
hazardous waste generated (2021: nil), given that the waste
disposal was mainly born by main contractors. The major
category of non-hazardous waste generated by main contractors
includes construction and demolition (C&D) waste.
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A1.5: Measures to Mitigate Emissions

During the Reporting Period, the Group has set target to reduce
10% of GHG emissions over the next 5 years, using the Reporting
Period as the baseline year. To reduce emissions from vehicles,
employees are encouraged to take public transports. The Group
plans schedule and arranges the route of its vehicles to avoid
unnecessary travel and/or congestion. To reduce its emissions
relating to business travel, the Group avoids non-essential
business travel and encourages employees to take low-emissions
travelling methods.

A1.6: Wastes Reduction and Initiatives

The Group has developed Green Office Practice to encourage
wise use of resources while promoting waste reduction at source.
The Group promotes paperless office — documents and
information are transmitted electronically to avoid paper
consumption. When printing is inevitable, paper should be
printed on both sides whenever possible. The Group also
encourages employees to recycle paper, plastic bottle and tin
can. No formal policy on waste reduction has been established to
regulate its sub-contractors. Nevertheless, they are encouraged
to reduce waste and reuse resources to minimize the
environmental impacts.

A2. Use of Resources

44

A2.1 Energy Consumption

The following presents the Group's direct energy consumption
for the Reporting Period:

Direct Energy Consumption in total and intensity:

Aspects 2.1 Unit
FEm2.1 By
Electricity Usage KWh
) TR
Electricity Usage Intensity kWh/office
AERE TEE,/MAE

Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited - ZEFZ A& £ B G R A 7]

A15:

A16:

WP BN

REREEE - AEEHITERZ - A
HEHHAREFERNRARAFH
BEREEYE IR 10% AR E
B BRMEEEERFEARR
B AEFREBHRTLHAS
WG NBeTBEMNET
/S - BRLHEEEHITE
BB AEERETUEND
BT R EME BB BRI RN
THR °

D R R
AEBERIERERATER AR
BERERNESICRER D ER
Yo ARBEREBERLHA — BB
BT BRI RER  NiEtn
MR - ELATEINERT -
FEZE R BE(E M ITE] - AEE IR
EVE B BRNAAER BB LG
o AREYEFTHBBRDER
PR IE R BERIAME L RAARE -
BE L - RAPITR B R R L R
BYREENABER - ABHIERE
BT ERERE -

A2. ERFER

A2.1

BERHEE
TXE2IAEBERFERENEE
BEIRHFE |

BEEFREREREE

2022 2021
2022 2021 4
107,978 70,601

47,990 44,590



A3.

A2.2

A2.3

V M

NN

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Water Consumption and A2.5 Packaging Material

Owing to the nature of our operations, other than the
consumption of drinking water, our operations do not require the
use of water or raw materials. There is also an absence of packing
materials involved in our operations. As such, the Group has not
placed emphasis on the development of policies in these areas.

Energy and A2.4 Water Use Efficiency Initiatives

During the Reporting Period, the Group has set target to reduce
10% of energy consumption over the next 5 years, using the
Reporting Period as the baseline year. The Group believes that
reducing energy use could be mutually beneficial to the
environment and the Group by reducing the operating costs and
creating long-term value to its stakeholders. The Group
encourages employees to switch off electrical appliances
whenever not in use and all unnecessary lighting, air conditioners,
and electrical appliances before they leave the office.

The Environmental and Natural Resources
The Group believes that corporate development should not come at

the expense of the environment. By integrating environmental
consideration into our business strategies, we aim to be an
environmentally sustainable enterprise. In the coming years, we would
continue promoting GHG emission reduction, energy and water
resource conservation and efficient use of natural resources. We believe

that not only can raising environmental awareness and reinforcing the

positive behavioral changes bring benefits to our financial situation, but
also to the future generations.
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A4. Climate Change
The Group recognises the importance of the identification and
mitigation of significant climate-related matters; therefore, the Group is
committed to managing the potential climate-related risks which may

impact the Group’s business activities. The Group has established risk

management policy in identifying and mitigating different risks
including climate-related risks. The Board meets regularly and
cooperates closely with key management to identify and evaluate
climate-related risks and to formulate strategies to manage the
identified risks.

Through the above method, the Group identified the material impacts
on the Group's business arising from the following risks:

A4.1: Climate-related matters

46

Physical Risks:

The increased frequency and severity of extreme weather such as
typhoons, storms and heavy rains can disrupt the Group'’s
operations by damaging the power grid and communication
infrastructures, and injuring its employees during their work,
leading to reduced capacity and decreased in productivity, or
expose the Group to risks associated with non-performance and
delayed performance. To minimise the potential risks and hazards,
the Group has flexible working arrangements and precautionary
measures during bad or extreme weather conditions.

Transition Risks:

The Group anticipates that there will be more stringent climate
legislations and regulations to support the global vision of carbon
neutrality. From a listed company’s perspective, we acknowledge
the increasing requirements of climate-related information
disclosures. One example is the update of the ESG Reporting
Guide in respect to significant climate-related impact disclosures
of an issuer. Stricter environmental laws and regulations may
expose enterprises to higher risks of claims and lawsuits.
Corporate reputation may also decline due to failure to meet the
compliance requirements for climate change. The related capital
investment and compliance costs thus increase. In response to
the policy and legal risks as well as reputation risks, the Group
regularly monitors existing and emerging trends, policies and
regulations relevant to climate and be prepared to alert the top
management where necessary to avoid cost increments, non-
compliance fines and/or reputational risks due to delayed
response.
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SECTION4 SOCIAL

B1.

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOR PRACTICES

The Group stringently complies with national and local laws and
regulations concerning employment and labor practices, including but
not limited to the Employment Ordinance, the General Holiday
Ordinance, the Disability Discrimination Ordinance, and the Race
Discrimination Ordinance.

Employees are our most invaluable assets. It is our priority to ensure that
the occupational health and safety of all employees, subcontractor
workers and the surrounding communities to our construction sites is
adequately maintained. Our comprehensive Safety Management Plan
provides a framework for monitoring and evaluating the
implementation of our safety policies and measures. We further strive to
continuously improve our workplace safety policies in accordance with
guidance received from the Labour Department from time to time.

It is also our aim to enhance the well-being and development of our
employees. As an equal opportunity employer, the Group has put in
place policies to ensure that it treats all employees on an equal footing
in matters related to, among others, recruitment, promotion, appraisals,
discipline, remuneration and benefits, compensation and dismissal, and
working hours and rest periods. An employee’s age, gender, family
status, sexual orientation, physical disability, ethnicity and religion
would not affect his career with us. During the Reporting Period, we
received no complaints regarding discrimination issues from any of our
stakeholders. Needless to say, we ensured that no child nor forced labor
was employed by the Group.

Apart from providing competitive remuneration and benefits, we
continue to support and nurture our employees through staff
development and training programmes.

The Group has devised a staff handbook for its employees to
understand important information relating to the Group’s human
resources policies, rules, and work ethics surrounding employment. It is
an essential tool in helping to define the expectations of both the
management and the employees, and also to protect them from unfair
and/or inconsistent treatment and discrimination.
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B1.1: Workforce
The Group had employed 90 full-time employees as at 31 March
2022, all of whom are from Hong Kong. Out of the total number
of staff, 71 of our employees were male and 19 of them were
female. Majority of the workforce were within the 31-50 age
group, accounting for 58 of our staff, while 18 employees were
under 30 years old and 14 were over 50 years old.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s overall full-time
employee turnover rate was approximately 36%. The employee
turnover rate for male and female were approximately 30% and
58% respectively.

Health and Safety

The management of the Group is responsible for the overall health and
safety of employees. The Group strictly follows relevant laws and
regulations such as the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance.
There was no material non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations relating to occupational health and safety which had
material impact to the Group.

We place emphasis on occupational health and work safety and provide
safety training to our staff covering topics such as our safety measures
and procedures for reporting accidents. Due to the nature of works, risks
of accidents or injuries to workers are inherent. The Group understands
that preventive measures are way more important than reactive
measures. Therefore, sufficient first-aid boxes have been equipped in
the office area in case any emergencies happen and also we devised a
safety management plan to govern our workers and subcontractors.
Looking ahead, we would continue to promote occupational health
and safety to its employees and avoid any work injury or accident by all
means.

Work injuries will be reported according to our internal guidelines
which was set up with reference to the work injury reporting
requirement by the Labour Department. Based on our safety
management plan, we ensured safety and health of our employees in
connection with the use, handling, storage and transport of articles and
substances; providing all necessary information, instructions, training
and supervision for ensuring safety and health; providing and
maintaining safe access to and egress from the workplaces; and
providing and maintaining a safe and healthy working environment.
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During the Reporting Period, 1 incident of work injuries arose, which led
to 156 lost labor days (FY2021: 5 incidents of work injuries occurred,
which led to 1,169 lost labor days). The Group is pleased to report that
no fatality cases occurred during the Reporting Period.

Our Board of directors are responsible for overseeing our Group's health
and safety management system to ensure our compliance with the
relevant statutory requirements. A safety committee meeting is held on
a monthly basis with our foremen for reviewing the health and safety
issues related to our operations. Under the direction of our safety officer,
our foremen are responsible for monitoring on-site implementation of
our safety management system.

Development and Training

The knowledge and skill levels of our employees are vital to the Group's
success, and hence we provide sufficient training and development
programmes to allow them to excel at their work.

Our training programmes range from professional and technical training
to personal development skills and our employees are required to
attend an induction training to ensure they thoroughly understood the
Group's safety and health policies. In addition, the Group provides
adequate job and safety training to employees to equip them with the
required safety knowledge and work skills to tackle situations and
challenges to be encountered at diverse work sites.
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HEREAES

During the Reporting Period, the percentage breakdown of employees
trained and the average training hours per employee, by gender and
employee category are as follows:

By Gender ZER
Female 2%
Male S

By Employee Category RESER

Senior Management . mSRERE

Middle Management FARERRE

Junior Management TRERE
Labor Standards

The Group strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations such as
Employment Ordinance and the Disability Discrimination Ordinance of
the Laws of Hong Kong. Background checks were conducted for new
employees to ensure that no teenagers under the statutory minimum
working age would be employed. All employees must provide their
personal identity documents to prove their ages and identities. During
the Reporting Period, no material case of non-compliance with local
child and forced labor related laws and regulations were noted.
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Percentage of
employees

Average
training hours
per employee
(hours)
BEEEN
P E IR
(/)

trained
(%)
SRS
Baotk
(%)

100 59.0
100 730
100 96.0
100 73.1
100 68.3
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Supply Chain Management

As mentioned, our quality management system which governs our daily
operation for quality control and improvement meets the requirements
of 1ISO 9001:2015. Our internal policies and thus the procurement
process are governed by this standard. We maintain an approved
suppliers list set up by the Board of directors. Only suppliers meeting
our stringent quality standards can be added to the list for our
purchases.

Under our policies, the Group would only purchase supplies from these
approved suppliers to ensure quality of our purchases. During the
Reporting Period, the Group had engaged 105 (FY2021: 115) suppliers
and subcontractors while 85 of them were located in Hong Kong.
Further, with reference to the quality requirement of our construction
projects, our project staff or the directors would also pay visits to
suppliers to communicate our requirements, while at the same time
inspect the suppliers’ warehouse to conduct a sample check on the
quality of the goods. Upon reception of goods at project sites, the
project supervisors are responsible for the inspection of the delivered
goods to ensure they can meet our quality requirements before settling
payment.

For subcontractors’ quality management, similar to that of purchasing,
we maintain a list of approved subcontractors. Regular inspection on
the quality of works and progress as delivered by our subcontractors
would be performed by our project supervisors. We have made it clear
to our subcontractors that compliance with the labor laws and
regulations is mandatory when handling safety and employment
matters at construction sites.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not identify any non-
compliances in relation to safety and labor laws and regulations.

Product Responsibility

The Group is committed to providing better services to the citizens and
creating higher return for the stakeholders. As construction contractor,
the Group addresses the significance of public health during the
construction work.
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BRI

B7.

B8.

Anti-corruption

Over the years, we have witnessed no incidences of suspected or actual
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering activities occurring
within the Group. We stand firmly by our anti-corruption policies and
procurement practices as stated in our internal manuals which comply
with applicable laws. Acceptance of kickbacks, commissions or any form
of benefit is strictly prohibited during any procurement exercise,
contract negotiation or other business dealings.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with any laws and regulations in Hong Kong related to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering including but not
limited to, the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance, that would have a
significant impact to the Group.

Community Investment

The Group strives to implement corporate social responsibility and
actively participates in public welfare activities. No formal policy on
community investment has been established.

Owing to the nature of our business, we are not required to label any
products or to advertise our services. Further, we generally do not
handle personal data and, as such, are exposed to minimal risks of
breaching privacy laws.

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has temporarily suspended
the organisation and participation of charitable and voluntary activities.

SECTION5 FUTURE APPROACH TO SUSTAINABLE
DEVELOPMENT

In the

52

future, we will:

Continue to raise our staff and subcontractors’ awareness in relation to
environmental protection;

Maintain the highest standards for occupational health and safety to
protect our staff members and the communities located in the vicinity

of our operations; and

Further extend our care to the community by participating in more
charity services.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

RSM Hong Kong

29th Floor, Lee Garden Two, 28 Yun Ping Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

T +852 2598 5123
F +852 2598 7230

www.rsmhk.com

To the shareholders of Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wah Wo Holdings
Group Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on
pages 62 to 147, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2022, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the "HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
The key audit matters we identified are revenue recognition of construction
contracts and assessment of expected credit losses ("ECL") of trade receivables

and contract assets.

Key Audit Matter
REFETEE

Revenue recognition of construction contracts
BEESHR W 2 BT

Refer to notes 4(g), 4(m)(i), 5(a)(i) and 8 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.
A0 P2 R B RRMFL4Q) - 4m)()
8 o

5@)) &

The Group recognised revenue from the provision of
aluminium works related services of approximately
HK$222,687,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022.
BE202F3IANBILFE - SEEERHRET
72 48 2 AR 755 T SR U 2 49 222,687,000 7 7T ©

Contract revenue is recognised progressively over time
using the output method, based on direct measurements
of the surveys of performance completed to date relative
to the remaining services for the contracts entered into
by the Group.
BHRRTIERBESETHRENER(FHE &
SEFFTA ORISR A RR) W EE SRES AR
e fE RAERERR o
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRMETEASNAEERRENSE

We have performed the following procedures in relation to the revenue
recognition of construction contracts:

BPEES OO KR ERPIRITORFIT -

(i) obtaining an understanding of, evaluating and validating, on a
sample basis, management’s key internal controls over the
contract revenue recognition processes;

BIREAR - TH - FAEKEREEEBHESOREERBIE
B B8 58 P AR 4% I

(i) testing contract agreements with customers, on a sample basis,
the key terms and conditions including the contract sum, the
scope of work and retention;

BEUEA - HEEPRITNEOHH - BRIER KL
BEaNeRE  TESERRESSETAH

fe

(i) comparing the contract revenue recognised for contracts in
progress during the year, on a sample basis, with reference to the
certifications from the surveyors appointed by the customers or
payment applications from the in-house surveyor or confirmation
received from customers;

BEREA  BRFAERSOBINANRERREERP

ZREMASMHABERABLAEMNNTBRFRREFTP
M RERRAET T L



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
HEETEE

Revenue recognition of construction contracts
BESHN KR

Management reviews the progress of the contracts and

revises the estimates of contract revenue, contract costs
and variation orders for each construction contract to
determine whether the construction contract is an
onerous contract based on the most current budget with
reference to the overall contract consideration.
EEEEHANNERTEITa W  alRAR
REBHREGHNNETITENGE  REHERS
N ERTEAERNBEUNETRESCYREAE
BlER -

Significant management’s judgements were needed to
estimate the value of services delivered to date and the
final outcome of each contract, including forecasting the
costs to complete a contract and the provision for
onerous contracts.
FEEREREHEAGFHES AR N RBNEE
REHAHNNSZEER  BRERATKE QO RIEMH
BIRIES MM -

We identified the revenue recognition of construction
contracts as a key audit matter because of the
significance of the revenue to the consolidated financial
statements and the significant management judgements
and estimates in estimating the value of the construction
works completed to date and final outcome of each
contract.

HRRAEGRA M BRRAGEERTE MNEETE
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMETEARNIEEBRENSZE

(iv)

(vi)

conducting site visits, on a sample basis, to observe the status of
the project and evaluate whether the project progress was
consistent with the agreed timetable;

BIEAR - £TEMRE - EBRZEE B AR R E
T8 B 2R A B E MR R R AT

assessing management's estimates used in forecasting the final
outcome of each contract, including estimated costs to
completion, by obtaining and evaluating relevant information in
connection with the estimates used, including budgeted
forecasts prepared by management and correspondences with
customers; and

BRER L EERGEAAERNEN (BREEERRN
BERAMETEPHBME)  FHEEEERNETEANR
RERNTEN - BRETIOMRA &

discussing the status of projects under construction, including
estimated costs to completion, assessment of potential liquidated
damages for major contracts and provision for onerous contracts
with management of the Group.

B EREEEEEMNWRERERNMRRL  BET IO
A HEBERONEBEEETIRETREMENT M REE
MERBE -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
HRENSEE

Assessment of ECL of trade receivables and
contract assets

TEESEUF ARG EENAREEER

Refer to notes 4(r), 5(b)(iii), 23 and 24 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.

B0 R RRER A B IRERMITLA0) ~ 5(b)i) « 23824 °

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
trade receivables and contract assets were approximately,
HK$23,502,000 and HK$48,007,000, respectively, which in
aggregate represented about 26.7% of the Group's total
assets.

R2022%63A31H EXEEEZREFIERANE
72 8 BR TH B 9 51 49 /% 23,502,000 % 7T & 48,007,000 7
T AR BEEEEERELN267%-

Significant management judgement is required to assess
the recoverability of trade receivables and contract assets.
Management performed a detailed analysis which
considered customers’ ageing profile, credit history,
historical payment pattern and forecast economic
conditions for the estimation of ECL on its trade
receivables and contract assets.

TEESHERUFIARENEENAIREIMHFEESEX
EREHE - EREEELFANNT EREFH
RiviEE - EERH - BENFURRN RIBIE AR
o AMEFESRWFIBARANEENTEREEE

18
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRMETEASFNAEERREENSE

We have performed the following procedures in relation to the
assessment of ECL of trade receivables and contract assets:

B EE HRBGIERSNEENTEREEBIEMIITHE
FFanT

() engaging our internal valuation expert to review management’s
calculation model on the ECL of trade receivables and contract
assets and test the underlying information including the historical
payment records, credit history and credit rating of the Group's
customers, if available;

) BHEEANASLEEERRIEEEHESRUFELS
WEENTRHEEBEFEER  TASEBER &
E EEERPMBANREE  EREERERTR (M
B):

(i) assessing the appropriateness of the impairment loss
methodology, testing the calculation of the historical loss rates
on a sample basis and evaluating the reasonableness of the
forward-looking adjustments made to reflect current and forecast
future economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) against
publicly available information with the assistance of our internal
valuation expert;

(i) AT A ERFPOAITFEERNH TEFSHNAFHE
o FHEREBEENEE M AFEESL BB ReE
B FHE R R R E B R IEHIR RSB AR (BIE N A E 4
BB EREZSBIE

(iii)  testing the accuracy and completeness of the data used by
management on a sample basis to develop the historical loss
rates and assessing the sufficiency, reliability and relevance of that
data;

(i) ORIE IR B I E St RS 1B R T AR PR M BUR B ERE N I
TR EZSEENT ST - AT AR



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
BHRENSEE

Assessment of ECL of trade receivables and
contract assets

HEE S ERFIAR N EENAEEEE
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMETENRONMEEBRREETSEER

(iv)

(iv)

(vi)

testing the calculation of expected credit loss provisions applying
the provision rates to the age categories of the trade receivables
and contract assets outstanding at the reporting date;
FERNBRERMREEZE S REFIBALENEERKRERE
BB X AABREEERRENTE

testing the ageing of trade receivables at the end of the reporting
period on a sample basis; and

MR E PRE 5 REGRRMRE - &

in respect of material trade receivables balances which are past
due, additional procedures were performed to evaluate their
historical progress payment records, assessing whether the
customers are experiencing financial difficulties, default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments, and assessing the
probability that the customers will enter bankruptcy with
reference to publicly available information, where applicable.
MERNBIE S RKFIAL L - DETHEIMEF AT E
FrREENRLE  FEEFERBMBEE - 7Sk
REXNBHOIIER - WREEZBRAT2ERRERET
EEFEAWERR PR AT RENE -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The Other Information
comprises all of the information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so, consider
whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other Information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The Audit Committee assist the directors in discharging their responsibilities
for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
alsor

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
I BEh RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including

any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our

audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to

communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Mr. Yam Tak Fai, Ronald.

RSM Hong Kong
Certified Public Accountants

30 June 2022

B BE RS

RSM

BB ET RS P B WRAEN

—&=3C )

tREZZESREMNEET - RFIREEPL
FHHAG AW B RRNEIR/EE
MEKERESFER - RAERBEREPHE
MZERIE - BIDERIER T AT RFRE
ZEFH AEBRERANBRT  HEER
HERMREFBEBRXFRERNEMEREB
BEAMNARMNE - RPPRETEERSTE
BAREIR

ABYZBENHENESNRBABARERE
pita s

ERXERMERAT
HE BTN

20226 A30H

ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 - — & = —/— —FF#f 61



S

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

FERaREMRZEEEER

Yearended 31 March 2022 &% 2022 F 3 A 31 HIFFJE

2022 2021
2022 F 2021
HK$’000 HKS'000
THT T
REVENUE g 8 223,058 350,847
Cost of sales SHER AR (206,684) (329,466)
Gross profit EF 16,374 21,381
Other income and gain HA WA R Was 9 2,399 5,194
Administrative expenses THRAX (17,602) (15,734)
Reversal of provision/(provision) for VERIEN SEi-bca ke d eI
impairment loss allowances, net (BE) 558 784 (2,424)
Finance costs B E AN 1M (77) (107)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBE A A 1,878 8310
Income tax expense FriSHif X 12 (454) (2,358)
PROFIT AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE FRBRARZERBZHEE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR 13 1,424 5,952
EARNINGS PER SHARE AARMNEE AEMS
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS BRER
OF THE COMPANY HKO.14 cents HKO.60 cents
Basic and diluted AR REE 17 0.14 71l 0.60 1l
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FaEMBRAR

31 March2022 202243 A31H

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
Note HK$'000 HKS'000
BT FET TFETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENMEKRE 18 5,606 6,135
Right-of-use assets EREEE 19 1,602 3,076
Investment properties LEME 20 81,700 -
Deposits b 2] 852 461
Deferred tax asset EIEF IR B E 22 272 302
Total non-current assets EREEELE 90,032 9,974
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Contract assets BHEE 23 48,007 44916
Trade receivables B 5l IE 24 23,502 60,612
Prepayments, deposits and other TERFUIER « 12 REAME
receivables RIE 21 9,388 31,195
Tax recoverable AT UL BRI 11,216 5,446
Pledged deposits EREEE 25 22,825 29,231
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReSEER 25 62,781 84,835
Total current assets mEIEEAE 177,719 256,235
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Contract liability AHEE 23 4,310 944
Trade payables E 5N FUR 26 8,342 11,311
Other payable and accruals HA e IE R EFTE 27 3,212 1,889
Lease liabilities HEBE 28 1,288 1,530
Provisions for rectification works B TR BB 29 7,269 7,119
Total current liabilities B A EREE 24,421 22,793
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 153,298 233,442
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #AEERRBEE 243,330 243416
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REMBRAR

31 March2022 202243 H31H

2022 2021
2022 2021 £
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT F&7T

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBERE
Lease liabilities HEBE 28 437 1,720
Deferred tax liability RIEFRIBAE 22 = 227
Total non-current liabilities IR aER%E 437 1,947
Net assets BEFE 242,893 241,469

EQUITY B

Issued capital BEITARA 30 10,000 10,000
Reserves s 32 232,893 231,469
Total equity B 242,893 241,469

Approved by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2022 and are signed on its
behalf by:

Mr. Chen Yuet Wa
BRI EE S

Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
SeRREERXR

Yearended 31 March 2022 &% 2022 F 3 A 31 HIFFJE

Issued
capital

BRITRAE

HK$'000
TAT

Share
premium Merger Retained
account reserve profits
ROEER  AHRE REERF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEE  TAER  TER
(note 32(b)()) (note 32(b)(i

)
(BI=E3200)0)) (BT 5E32(0)i))

Total
st
HK$'000
T

At 1 April 2020 2020481 H 10,000 91,369 20 134,128 235,517

Profit and total comprehensive FRmHR2ERE
income for the year ®E - - - 5,952 5,952

At 31 March 2021 and at R2021F3A31B K
1 April 2021 20214 A1H 10,000 91,369 20 140,080 241,469

Profit and total comprehensive FREFR2ERE
income for the year e - - - 1424 1424
At 31 March 2022 2023 R31H 10,000 91,369 20 141,504 242,893
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FERKRER

Yearended 31 March 2022 &% 2022 F 3 A 31 HIFFJE

2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETDHERERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax e 5 B4 A 1,878 8310
Adjustments for: MUATHIBEAE
Finance costs BhE A 11 77 107
Bank interest income HRITH BN 9 (381) (1,228)
Depreciation of property, Y - WEREETE
plant and equipment 13,18 2,350 1,314
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEITE 13,19 1,474 1,269
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEMFE - WE R&#ERE
equipment 13 (25) -
Loss on lease modification HEREEE = 156
Changes in fair value of investment properties & &3 N FEEF) 13,20 (1,163) -
Provision for impairment of contract EREERERETE
assets, net 13 316 947
(Reversal of provision)/provision for B 5 W IRRE
impairment of trade receivables, net (BERE),  BEFHE 13 (1,100) 1477
Net provision for rectification works BN TEREFE 29 4,656 1,789
Operating profit before working capital changes % 48 & 4 & B Bl #) 48 & % 7l 8,082 14,141
(Increase)/decrease in contract assets SHVERE (%M, SR (3,407) 7,578
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables B 5 R IER L (18 hn) 38,210 (55,260)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits ~ FAfTFRIE ~ #&74 K E i g UL
and other receivables RIER AL, (3G 0) 21,807 (22,251)
Increase in contract liability BB EEN 3,366 944
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables Z S IEMFIB O ), /N (2,969) 4384
Increase/(decrease) in other payable and b e B K fEEt B AN
accruals CR) 1,323 (3,347)
Utilisation of provisions for rectification works B A&k T2 &4 29 (4,506) (3,620)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations KESEE TS, (FTA) RS 61,906 (57,431)
Interest paid BAF A (77) (107)
Hong Kong profits tax paid B EEFEH (6,421) (8,083)
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) KETEEIFTS (TR ReERE
operating activities HEE 55,408 (65,621)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEZBHFRERERE
Deposits paid BfES (632) (247)
Interest received EFE 381 1,228
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEYE  KELEE (180) 6,577)
Decrease/(Increase) in pledged deposits HWEZCR L, (3En) 6,406 (24,815)
Decrease in non-pledged time deposits with RESRREBABA=A
original maturity more than three HIEE IR E TR
months when acquired 10,000 4,634
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - BERZHEEHE
plant and equipment 25 -
Purchases of investment properties EEREME (81,937) -
Net cash flows used in investing activities WEEBFRARESREFE (65,937) (25,771)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FERKRER

Yearended 31 March 2022 &% 2022 F 3 A 31 HIFFJE

2022
2022 &

2021
2021 4
HK$'000
T

HK$’000
FERT

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEZBERERE
Payments of lease liabilities HEABRNHK 34(c) (1,525) (1,256)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BB EBFRRESREFE (1,525) (1,256)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND ReERRELEEEE

CASH EQUIVALENTS D (12,054) (92,648)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year FHI8IR & MRS EETEH 74,835 167,483
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRONBERESEHEER

AT END OF YEAR 62,781 74,835
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND ReRRLEEER

CASH EQUIVALENTS BRI
Cash and bank balances H& MIRTTH 8 62,781 74,835
Non-pledged time deposits IEE T EATFER - 10,000
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the REMBIRRERAEIRE R

consolidated statement of financial position HE&EEER 25 62,781 84,835
Non-pledged time deposits with original RESRD R A

maturity of more than three months —BEAKER

when acquired FEERTE BT - (10,000)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the mEReRERMERE R

consolidated statement of cash flows REFMEIEAE 62,781 74,835
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 35 80 R B o

31 March2022 202243 H31H

GENERAL INFORMATION

Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in
the Cayman Islands with limited liability. The address of its registered
office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The address of its principal place of business
is Flat A & D, 4/F, Phase 1, Kwai Shing Industrial Building, 36-40 Tai Lin
Pai Road, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong. The Company’s
shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 17 January 2020.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
provision of aluminium works related services and trading of tools and
equipment.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate and the ultimate holding
company of the Company is Ornate Bright Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI").

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HKD") and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
(HK$'000) except when otherwise indicated.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
business, and kind of
legal entity

Issued
ordinary
share capital

AR LR
BRMHAR LR
 §-kohid

E®T
EERRAE

Sino Keen Limited BVI/Hong Kong, limited Uss2
liability company
EHERRA ERRREE/BE VE
BREMEAT
Mega Brim Limited BVI/Hong Kong, limited Us$1
liability company
EmBRRA HREHE/BE 1%
BEREERA
Wah Wo Aluminium Work Hong Kong, limited HK$10,000
Company Limited liability company
ENEEIRERAA &8 BREMAF 10,0007 7T
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Percentage of equity

BERASENERE DL
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to the Group Principal activities

TEEETE
Direct Indirect

B &

100 - Investment holding
REER
100 - Investment holding

REEKR

Provision of aluminium
works related services and
trading of tools and
equipment

RHERE TRAERBUR
BETALEE
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Notes to the Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
business, and kind of
legal entity

Issued
ordinary
share capital

SMERL, BRR
BRBUIAR LR
 § kb

E&T
EERRA

Wah Kee (R&M) Limited Hong Kong, limited HK$10,000
liability company

EL#EARAR B AREALH 1000078 7T

Word Classic International Limited Hong Kong, limited HKS1
liability company

EEARBRAA BE  BREERA 1787

Wah Yu Global Investment Hong Kong, limited HK$1,000
Company Limited liability company

FRRRERRAF B BREMLAR 100078 7T

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the "HKICPA"). HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRS"); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards ("HKAS"); and Interpretations. These consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and the
disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance (Cap.622).
Significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed
below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first
effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group. Note 3 provides information on any changes in
accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current and prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

1.

RA %5 80 3R P E

31 March2022 202243 A31H

—RER (#)
EBEMBARNER (7)

Percentage of equity

BERASENERE DL
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 35 80 R B o

31March 2022 202243 H31H

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(a)

70

Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 April 2021
for the preparation of the financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19 — Related Rent
Concessions

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year had no material impact on the
Group's financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16, COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions

The amendment provides a practical expedient that allows a
lessee to by-pass the need to evaluate whether certain qualifying
rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the
COVID-19 pandemic (“COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions”) are
lease modifications and, instead, account for those rent
concessions as if they were not lease modifications. The practical
expedient only applies to rent concessions occurring as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and only if all of the
following conditions are met: a) the change in lease payments
results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially
the same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change; b) any reduction in lease
payments affects only payments due on or before 30 June 2021;
and c) there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited - ZEFZ A& £ B G R A 7]

3. RMHITREBIEEBMBR
HER

(a)

FE 37 5] R AR 5] & B BT B 3R
el

REEMBEHRER - AEEEEH X
FERM2021F4 718k 2% A
2 FEHRESAIERZ AT HEES
AR A EMG 2 BB HRE LR
HIIERT AN

BB HHRE
AERIZE 16 5%
RS ET AR

BERG B RS
AERIE 95 -
el
FE395 - BB
B 5 ¥R 5 4R
F7% BB
B 5 3R 5 %R
B4 NED
B 15 5 4 )
F165RH
1BETA

COVID-19 — 18
HeER

Tl =B B
— F B

BRI XAaEIN  AFREAE
BB HmEEAMNER AHAEH
RN F 8 1 4 2 B BE 500 B
RAR/ REINRZEH B RRE
BREIBEEATE -

ERAMBEREENE16 RIS
7K > COVID-19 — HHEEHEEESR

ZIEFRT AR — BRI ITIRE L
EHEABAEFTTHREEEER
COVD- 19O BEENESERESE
®(CovD-19EEEeER]) 24
BREEE] Bk ABABEZ
EHSERARERE  MNEIW I
TSR] - ZATHRE A AEER
RECOVID-19B BN EZBERME
AHEESEE BAMEWNTNAA
BHFEEA  dMENRERE
BEEFTHERBABERHER
EEZEHIMNHEERE pAE
NRWERREESEEHHEA
202146 A30 B Z AIAI R ¢ Ko
HEHERRRIEG T EELES) -



V4 NN

Notes to the Financial Statements

RA %5 80 3R P E

31 March 2022 202243 H31H

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 3. IHRAHIIR ST E BT KR

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued) HER (@)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued) (a) FERAFITIRKLETETBIMEKER

Amendments to HKFRS 16, COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions (continued)

The amendments do not have an impact on these financial
statements as the Group did not obtain any rent concessions
during the year.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

The amendments provide targeted reliefs from (i) accounting for
changes in the basis for determining contractual cash flows of
financial assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities as
modifications, and (i) discontinuing hedge accounting when an
interest rate benchmark is replaced by an alternative benchmark
rate as a result of the reform of interbank offered rates (“IBOR
reform”).

The amendments do not have an impact on these financial
statements as the Group does not have contracts that are
indexed to benchmark interest rates which are subject to the
IBOR reform.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

202243 H31H

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not applied any new and revised HKFRSs that have
been issued but are not yet effective for the financial year
beginning on 1 April 2021. These new and revised HKFRSs include
the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease — COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions
BEVBRELERF 16FAEFTAEE —COVD-19MEER R R

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Business Combination — Reference to
the Conceptual Framework

BRWBREENE IWOEFTAERE 6 — HERDRM

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before
Intended Use

BB ERE 16 RETAME - WER&
Fﬁ?%*i

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

AR B ERE 7 RMEBRIANBRA K — BITAHRA

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle
2018 FF E 2020 B 2 BB M 5 S R FEUE

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

BB ERE 1 RNETT R8BS BIERSDSSERD

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements — Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

ER T ERE 1 RNEBIT A2 U B RER N E BV B HREELE
NEF2FRIEHEE M HE — BRESHEBR

Amendments to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors — Definition of Accounting Estimates

BB ERE SRS AT ECR - SEHEFIE B RIER — g5
HEtEEE

Amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes — Deferred Tax Related to Assets and
Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction

BB ERE 125 ST RS —
BEABNELERIE

S — BER®RZA

%

HRE-RHELNEER

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these amendments and new standards is expected to
be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that
the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on
the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the

historical cost convention, unless mentioned otherwise in the
accounting policies below (e.g. investment properties that are
measured at fair value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS

requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the
Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note

5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(a)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
The Group has power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties. A
potential voting right is considered only if the holder has the
practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date
the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a
loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value
of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s
share of the net assets of that subsidiary and any accumulated
foreign currency translation reserve relating to that subsidiary.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

74

(a)

(b)

Consolidation (continued)

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses, unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale).

Foreign currency translation

(i)  Functional and presentation currency
ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HKD, which is the
Company’s functional and presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial

statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the

functional currency on initial recognition using the

exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.

Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are

translated at the exchange rates at the end of each

reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this

translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-
monetary items that are measured at fair value in foreign
currencies are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment held for use in the supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purpose, are stated in the
consolidated statements of financial position at cost, less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write off their cost over the estimated useful
lives on a straight-line basis. The principal useful annual rates as
follows:

Carpark Over the lease terms
Leasehold improvements Over the lease terms
Office equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

The useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and
adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.

4,
(c)
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

76

(d)

(e)

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned
or held under a leasehold interest to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation. These include land held for a currently
undetermined future use and property that is being constructed
or developed for future use as investment property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless they are still
in the course of construction or development at the end of the
reporting period and their fair value cannot be reliably measured
at that time.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are recognised in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is withdrawn from use. Any gain or loss
on disposal of an investment property is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the property,
and is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from investment
properties is accounted for as described in note 4(m).

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control is
conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the
use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

(i) The Group as a lessee
Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-
lease component(s), the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as
a single lease component for all leases.

Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited - ZEFZ A& £ B G R A 7]

4.

EbN-a e )

(d)

(e)

REME
REMERERTRIER R
REREBEMAEERS R AT
Bzt S@F EheEf
BATHEAREERRBEMEENL
i R IEfE B sk B R AR RIRE
MERDE

BREWMERZAFEIE  BRIFRE
MERRE PR LR RERSD
RENFERERE AR SEFE -

REMELFEEBAES 2K
SkE RN E A IR A E s R

BREMERNLEREREMEZA
B ILER - HEREME
Z M m s B R A IHE S 0R
FEEYEEmMEME cHONE
B UeEBaiER REVMEZ
HHEWAIRM G 4(m) BTt 1T & 5T
BRIE o

HE

REIL AR AEBFBEHOR
ERHELEEHE - HEOE T
BN —BREEAREFCHAEE
HMRZEABERE - BIZEHAHE
EXEelE - WEFPAEXERN
w2 RO A A R% 5 R R JE B
RTAMKE RN - MIESZEE
il

(i) FEEEREEA
EAHMBSHENN MIFEE
BRI B - QIRNSREEZHNAE
MEH @D IFEEE R - I
# B E R R AR IEE
ERHODARINGE -—HES

,(/‘\ o



V M

NN

Notes to the Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e)

Leases (continued)

(i)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and
leases of low-value assets which, for the Group are primarily
laptops and office furniture. When the Group enters into a
lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.
The lease payments associated with those leases which are
not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using the
effective interest method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the
cost of the right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of
costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, except for the right-of-use assets that
meet the definition of investment property are carried at
fair value in accordance with note 4(d).

4.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

78

(e)

Leases (continued)

(i)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets
at the end of the lease term are depreciated from
commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index or
rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the
amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced
to zero.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e)
(i)

(ii)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a
lease that is not originally provided for in the lease contract
(“lease modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate
lease. In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on
the revised lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification. The
only exceptions are any rent concessions which arose as a
direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and which
satisfied the conditions set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS
16. In such cases, the Group took advantage of the practical
expedient not to assess whether the rent concessions are
lease modifications, and recognised the change in
consideration as negative lease payments in profit or loss
in the period in which the event or condition that triggers
the rent concessions occurred.

The Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If this
is not the case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

80

(f)

(9)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

Contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises revenue
before being unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are
assessed for ECL in accordance with the policy set out in note 4(r)
and are reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. A
contract liability would also be recognised if the group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognizes the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts,
contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are
not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the effective
interest method.

Construction contracts and contract costs

Revenue from the provision of construction services is recognised
over time, using an output method to measure progress towards
complete satisfaction of the service, because the Group's
performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the asset is created or enhanced. The output method
recognises revenue by reference to completion of specific
transaction assessed on basis of the work certified up to the end
of the reporting period as a percentage of total contract value for
each contract.

The Group regularly assesses the possible outcome of
construction contracts based on latest facts and circumstances
occurred in the construction contracts, and past experience in
conducting similar construction work. When there is a change in
the expected outcome of construction contracts, the Group will
adjust the amounts of contract revenue to be recognised in profit
or loss prospectively.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(9)

Construction contracts and contract costs (continued)
The likelihood of the Group earning contractual bonuses for early
completion or suffering contractual penalties for late completion
are taken into account in making these estimates, such that
revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable
that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be reasonably
measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract
costs incurred that are expected to be recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are estimated to
exceed the remaining amount of the consideration under the
contract, then a provision is recognised.

Contract costs are either the incremental costs of obtaining a
contract with a customer or the costs to fulfil a contract with a
customer which are not capitalised as inventory, property, plant
and equipment or intangible assets.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the
Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would
not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained.
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised when
incurred if the costs are expected to be recovered, unless the
expected amortisation period is one year or less from the date of
initial recognition of the asset, in which case the costs are
expensed when incurred. Other costs of obtaining a contract are
expensed when incurred.

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs relate directly
to an existing contract or to a specifically identifiable anticipated
contract; generate or enhance resources that will be used to
provide goods or services in the future; and are expected to be
recovered. Costs that relate directly to an existing contract or to a
specifically identifiable anticipated contract may include direct
labour, direct materials, allocations of costs, costs that are
explicitly chargeable to the customer and other costs that are
incurred only because the Group entered into the contract. Other
costs of fulfilling a contract, which are not capitalised as inventory,
property, plant and equipment or intangible assets, are expensed
as incurred.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

82

(h)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when
it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the
Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable,
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace. All recognised
financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at
either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification
of the financial assets.

Debt investments
Debt investments held by the Group are classified into one of the
following measurement categories:

—  Amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection
of contractual cash flows which represent solely payments
of principal and interest. Interest income from the
investment is calculated using the effective interest
method.

—  Fairvalue through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI")
— recycling, if the contractual cash flows of the investment
comprise solely payments of principal and interest and the
investment is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income, except for the recognition in
profit or loss of expected credit losses, interest income
(calculated using the effective interest method) and foreign
exchange gains and losses. When the investment is
derecognised, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled from equity to profit or
loss.

—  FVTPL if the investment does not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI (recycling).
Changes in the fair value of the investment (including
interest) are recognised in profit or loss.
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31March 2022 202243 H31H

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i) Financial assets (continued)
Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL unless the
equity investment is not held for trading purposes and on initial
recognition of the investment the Group makes an election to
designate the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Such elections are made on an
instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made if the
investment meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is made, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income remains in the fair
value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of.
At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It is not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in
equity securities, irrespective of whether classified as at FVTPL or
FVTOC], are recognised in profit or loss as other income.

(j) Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration, the amount is presented as a contract

asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective

interest method less allowance for credit losses.

84 Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited - ZEFZ A& £ B G R A 7]

4.

EbN-a e )

(i)

()

TRMEEE)

BAERE

REAREZ ZHERDBERRAF
Bt AR BRIFEBERAREL
FUBEEBOMEA BRI PR
RER  AEEERETREER
FEFAEMEZEKE(TAE
8) Fiit - HRAFEZHNEMD
2P ER - AFEEAERT
BEEEEL - WERBETARRIKR
BRNARAERE T A BEIEH - 1F
HZEEE  REtEERE R
ZeBRINBREBEXFERE(T
AIE)EEHERER/L - R H
S RO ERE(TIEE) R
Az eBEBARE RN AT 88
Az RAFEFKE (TR R
R AFHEFABR SR A FER
AHRMEERE) 2 BB R IEHEE
RREMIA -

B2 RHEMEWRKIE
REEAA BRI RN I ER
FER YRR - ER BRI
Al WK BN EMNET LB R
B 77 R AR - IR A AR B
BEGEEMNERAENED#
R AEERIRENEE -

R WS R TR PR R ) R O 8 AR
(= EERBEMEDIR -



7 4

NN

Notes to the Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k)

U]

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument
under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for
specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out
below.

(i)  Financial guarantee contracts
Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial
liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability is
initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the
higher of:

—  the amount determined in accordance with the ECL
model under HKFRS 9 and

— the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income
recognised in accordance with the principles of
HKFRS 15.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based
on the present value of the difference in cash flows
between the contractual payments required under the
debt instrument and the payments that would be required
without the guarantee, or the estimated amount that
would be payable to a third party for assuming the
obligations.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

86

U]

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
(i)  Financial guarantee contracts (continued)
Where guarantees in relation to loans or other payables of
associates are provided for no compensation, the fair
values are accounted for as contributions and recognised
as part of the cost of the investment.
(ii) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.
(iii) Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

(m) Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is
transferred to the customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

Revenue is recognised when specific criteria have been met for
the Group's activity described below:

(i) Construction contracts

Revenue from construction contracts is recognised in
accordance with the policy set out in note 4(g) above.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(m) Revenue and other income (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Trading of tools and equipment

Revenue from the trading of tools and equipment is
recognised at point in time when control of the asset is
transferred to the customers generally on delivery of the
tools and equipment.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

Rental income

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss as
an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

88

(n)

(o)

Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement
schemes which are available to all employees.
Contributions to the schemes by the Group and employees
are calculated as a percentage of employees’ basic salaries.
The retirement benefit scheme cost charged to profit or
loss represents contributions payable by the Group to the
funds.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the
dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of

(iii)

those benefits, and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match them with
the costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p)

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss
because of items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

20

(p)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to
apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is
realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The
presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model of the Group
whose business objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted,
deferred tax for such investment properties are measured based
on the expected manner as to how the properties will be
recovered.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p)

(a)

Taxation (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over the
lease terms due to application of the initial recognition
exemption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at each
reporting date for indications of impairment and where an asset
is impaired, it is written down as an expense through the
consolidated statement of profit or loss to its estimated
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the
cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash
flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present values are
computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset/cash-generating unit
whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated pro rata
amongst the assets of the cash-generating unit. Subsequent
increases in the recoverable amount caused by changes in
estimates are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they
reverse the impairment.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

92

(r)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on lease
receivables, trade receivables and contract assets. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for lease receivables,
trade receivables and contract assets. The ECL on these financial
assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money
where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(r)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
Forward-looking information considered includes the future
prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors operate,
obtained from economic expert reports, financial analysts,
governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar
organisations, as well as consideration of various external sources
of actual and forecast economic information that relate to the
Group's core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

—  significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

—  existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

24

(r)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets

(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

— significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

— an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on
a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(i) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term, and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in
the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(r)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when
the asset has external credit rating of “investment grade” in
accordance with the globally understood definition or if an
external rating is not available, the asset has an internal rating of
"performing”. Performing means that the counterparty has a
strong financial position and there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk
before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable.

— when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

— information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

926

(r)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

— significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

— abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

—  the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the counterparty a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

— itis becoming probable that the counterparty will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

—  The disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, including when the debtor
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(r)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is
a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward looking information as described above.
As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is
represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting
date.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used for
determining the expected credit losses is consistent with the
cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable in accordance
with HKFRS 16.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

4.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

928

(s)

(t)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group's position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events after
the reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements when material.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

(a)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors
have made the following judgements that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements (apart from those involving estimations,
which are dealt with below).

(i)  Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group has the primary responsibility for fulfilment of
the contract, quality and warranty of the overall work and
has discretion in selecting subcontractors and determining
the pricing for subcontractors. Thus, the Group is acting as
the principal and recognises revenue on a gross basis. The
determination of the progress of the construction service
involves judgements. The Group recognises revenue based
on progress confirmation from customers. The
confirmation reflects the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation, which is
measured based on direct measurements of the value of
units delivered or surveys of work performed. The
customers will provide a final statement when the whole
project is completed and may have adjustments on
accumulated confirmation according to the actual
engineering quantity till the day of completion. In addition,
when determining the transaction price, the Group
considers factors such as whether there is any financing
component. The Group considers whether the payment
schedule is commensurate with the Group’s performance
and whether the delayed payment is for financing
purposes. The Group has, therefore, recognised revenue
based on the progress confirmation over the period during
which the service is rendered and transferred to customers.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

(continued)

(a)

(b)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

(continued)

(ii) Deferred tax for investment properties
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the directors have reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios and concluded that the Group’s
investment properties are not held under a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties
over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, in
determining the Group’s deferred tax for investment
properties, the directors have adopted the presumption
that investment properties measured using the fair value
model are recovered through sale.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are discussed below.

(i) Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate
The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR") to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is
the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The
IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have to pay”’,
which requires estimation when no observable rates are
available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into
financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to
reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for example,
when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency).
The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such
as market interest rates) when available and is required to
make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the
subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment and make
estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset
value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of value
in use, the net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and
(3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow
projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the assets belongs. Changing the
assumptions and estimates, including the discount rates or
the growth rate in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the recoverable amounts.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets as at 31 March 2022 were HK$5,606,000
(2021: HK$6,135,000) and HK$1,602,000 (2021:
HK$3,076,000), respectively.

Provision for ECL on trade receivables and contract
assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets. The provision rates are
based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns.
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102

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

(continued)

(b)
(iii)

(iv)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for ECL on trade receivables and contract
assets (continued)

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the
matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with
forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast
economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to
an increased number of defaults in the construction sector,
the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and
ECL is a significant estimate. The amount of ECL is sensitive
to changes in circumstances and forecast economic
conditions. The Group's historical credit loss experience
and forecast of economic conditions may also not be
representative of a customer’s actual default in the future.

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of trade
receivables and contract assets are HK$23,502,000 (2021:
HKS$60,612,000) and HKS$48,007,000 (2021: HK$44,916,000)
respectively, net of allowance for trade receivables and
contract assets of HK$380,000 (2021: HK$1,480,000) and
HK$669,000 (2021: HK$353,000) respectively.

Provision for rectification works

Significant estimates are involved in the determination of
provisions related to rectification works. Accordingly,
management exercises considerable judgement in
determining whether there is a present obligation as a
result of a past event at the reporting date, whether it is
more likely than not that such warranty services and
rectification works will result in an outflow of resources and
whether the amount of the obligation can be reliably
estimated with reference to the relevant correspondence
and contracts with customers. Management estimates the
cost for rectification works with regard to the Group's
experience in addressing such matters.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

(continued)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(iv)

(v)

Provision for rectification works (continued)

As at 31 March 2022, the Group recognised provisions
related to warranty costs and rectification works amounting
to HK$7,269,000 (2021: HK$7,119,000).

Fair value of investment properties

The Group appointed an independent professional valuer
to assess the fair value of the investment properties. In
determining the fair value, the valuer has utilised a method
of valuation which involves certain estimates. The directors
have exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the
method of valuation and inputs used are reflective of the
current market conditions.

The carrying amount of investment properties as at 31
March 2022 was HK$81,700,000 (2021: Nil).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management programme

focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to

minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

(a)

Credit risk

The Group mainly transacts with recognised and creditworthy

third parties. Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing

basis and the Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum

exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which

is mainly based on past due information unless other information
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 March. The amounts presented are gross
carrying amounts for financial assets.

RA %5 80 3R P E

31 March 2022 202243 H31H

5. ER¥MERFEMT @)

(b) FEFTRERZEZEERRE)
(iv) ERIEREE)
MR2022%F3A831H A&EH
BRORIEKA KRR T2
B 757,269,000/ 75 (2021 4F
7,119,000/ 7C) ©

(v) BREUEXNDFE
REBEREBELZEXMGER
AHEREMEN D FE - RE
EAFER - fEMRE TS
METRHEFANBET L - EF
EATEEAE - WERATER
MEETDERBABRRER

Ro

MN2022E3 8318 BEME
7 BR M & 481,700,000/ JT
(20215 : &) o

6. TRIAMER

AEENEBEERMH S BYHBRR : 5
SERRMRBESRER -  AEBNERE
RERABZENEMTENTAER
1 W HRBEREHAEEMBERIRDN
BENNZE

(@) EERK
AEEFERESERERIFES
LEZARS o BRGRIBEHE G TIIR
FEE R EEITEE  AEEE
FREENRRYTERX -

R AR R O 5 5 R A EE PR ER
TRETERAREEERRNE
EEREEAREERRKO - ZK
REZERBEARERN (FREAM
BAMNHIBZKRASKIE AR ERF
ZERIN AR 3 A3 B ZERMRA
BRHEER DR - 2N E B RZ
FLRMEENKREA®E -
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6.

(a) Creditrisk (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)
As at 31 March 2022

12-month
ECL
12/ A EH
FEER
Stage 1
F—-K
HK$’'000
TER
Contract assets* BREE" =
Trade receivables* B S elIE =
Financial assets included in SFABRNRE - RE K
prepayments, deposits and other HiEWFIEN S B
receivables AE
— Normal** — EE* 811
Pledged deposits ERES
— Not yet past due — AR 22,825
Cash and cash equivalents RehReSEEE
— Not yet past due — WARBH 62,781

EREREE®)
(a) EERKE)
B A M O R & R AR R ()

7 2022%3 A31H

Lifetime ECL

2HRMEERR

Simplified
Stage 2 Stage3  approach Total
EoRER  E=RR BtRE @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$’000
TET TET TET TET

- - 48,676 48,676
- - 23,882 23,882

= = = 811

- - - 22,825

= = = 62,781

86,417

= = 72,558 158,975
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. TRIEMEE W
(@) Credit risk (continued) (a) EERB#E)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) BAREMEBORERFTERER ()
As at 31 March 2021 R2021%3A31H
12-month
ECL Lifetime ECL
12{8 A TEER
=EBE FHRSEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-BER F-BR F=BR  @tHE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET
Contract assets* AREE* - - - 45,269 45,269
Trade receivables* H S IEYGRIE - - - 62,092 62,092
Financial assets included in FABNTIE - Ze Rk
prepayments, deposits and other  Ef EZIBEA £ &Y
receivables EE
— Normal** — EE* 1,092 - - - 1,092
Pledged deposits EEER
— Not yet past due — AR 29,231 - - - 29,231
Cash and cash equivalents RekFeSEEE
— Not yet past due — ARAH 84,835 - - - 84,835
115,158 - - 107,361 222,519
* For contract assets and trade receivables to which the Group applies the * WRANEBEEBELHET ENAY
simplified approach for impairment, information based on the provision LBERESEWHEMNS  EREE
matrix is disclosed in notes 23 and 24 to the consolidated financial NGRS BIREA M REN T
statements, respectively. 23 24 B o
** The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, deposits *x HAFEMEIE e B H b pE R EoE
and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are not past HAREENEEE SN kam . A
due and there is no information indicating that the financial assets had a EENERSREENEERK AT
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the SRR AT A NE RS R Al EE |
credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”. BEGREENEHEERR AR [T
B o
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)

106

Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)
Management monitors the creditworthiness and payment
patterns of each debtor closely and on an ongoing basis. The
Group's trade receivables from contract work represent interim
billings or retentions certified by the customers under terms as
stipulated in the contracts. As the Group's customers in respect of
contract works primarily consist of main contractors in the
construction industry, property developers or owners with strong
financial backgrounds, management considers that the risk of
irrecoverable receivables from contract work is not significant.

Since the Group transacts only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations
of credit risk of the trade receivables are managed by analysis by
customer/counterparty. At the end of the reporting period, the
Group had certain concentrations of credit risk as 62% (2021:
83%) and 91% (2021: 100%) of the Group's trade receivables were
due from the Group's largest customer and the five largest
customers, respectively.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 24
to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its current and
expected liquidity requirements, its compliance with lending
covenants and its relationship with its bankers to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted cash

flows of the Group's financial liabilities is as follows:

RA %5 80 3R P E

31 March2022 202243 A31H

6. TEIEMERE®)

(b)

REBE R
AEENERRBSERERERER
BEHRBESHER HEDETE
PRI R B RERITHORER - A
REAR MRS FEREBNRE
MAEBERERBERTK -

REAEESBREBENE KRR
RenEZBNRELHFOT

On demand Total
or within 1 Between 1 Between 2 undiscounted Carrying
year and2years and5years Over>5 years cash flow amount
EEREES ARRRER
R—FR —-Zmf —Zhf EFERE EAH REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT THERT THERT TR THERT TR
At 31 March 2022 R202263A31H
Trade payables Z SN 8,342 - - = 8,342 8,342
Financial liabilities included in 5t AE A e 508 %
other payable and accruals B EANSRAR 3,212 - - - 3,212 3,212
Lease liabilties HEBR 1,320 440 - - 1,760 1,725
At 31 March 2021 R202153A318
Trade payables BHENHIE 11311 - - - 11311 1131
Financial liabilities included in -~ 5t A ERTFIA K
other payable and accruals EEBRANERERE 1889 - - - 1889 1889
Lease liabilities HERE 1,602 1320 440 - 3362 3250
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6.

108

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c) Categories of financial instruments

6.

EREREE®)
(0 &@MTAEER

2022 2021
2022 fF 2021 4F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FHxT FHIT
Financial assets: SRMEE !
Financial assets measured at amortised cost REEK AT ENEREE 109,919 175,770
Financial liabilities: cHas:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REEK AT EN MBS 13,279 16,450

(d) Fair values
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of financial
position approximate their respective fair values.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The following disclosures of fair value
measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises into three
levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical

assets or liabilities that the Group can access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of any
of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in
circumstances that caused the transfer.

See note 20 to the consolidated financial statements for disclosure
relating to the investment properties which are measured at fair value.
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8.

REVENUE

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements

RA %5 80 3R P E

31 March2022 202243 A31H

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FHIT
Revenue from contracts with customers BEA#HWE 223,058 350,847
Revenue from contracts with customers EEEHWE
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) #HMoWZER

2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
HK$'000 HKS'000
FET TFETT
Types of goods and services EmRREER
Construction services of residential buildings (£ 1E FHY R LIRS 138,058 339,168
Construction services of non-residential EFEBFHRERS
buildings 84,629 11,256
Trading of tools and equipment BEETANKE 371 423
Total revenue from contracts with customers ~ Z P& 4Nz 4258 223,058 350,847
Timing of revenue recognition Wy 2 T R R
Services transferred over time B B R 88 0% B AR 75 222,687 350,424
Goods transferred at a point in time RERMMEENE R 371 423
Total revenue from contracts with customers B P& 454258 223,058 350,847

ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 « =& = —/= —FF3iR 109



L4

Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 35 80 R B o

31 March2022 202243 H31H

8.

110

REVENUE (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i)

(i)

Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

The following table shows the amount of revenue recognised in
the current reporting period that was included in the contract
liability at the beginning of the reporting period:

Revenue recognised that was included

in the contract liability at the beginning B R S
of the reporting period
Construction services AR

8. W (#)
BEEEHWNE (&)

(@

RERIFAGHEED

Ao WEER (F)
TRETINBEHRVFAARNEE
ME RS BRERR NS SR

2022
2022 F

2021
2021 4
HK$'000
T 7T

HK$’000
FTET

944 -

Performance obligation
Information about the Group’s performance obligation is
summarised below:

Construction services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are
rendered and payment is generally due within 30 days from the
date of issuance of the payment certificate. A certain percentage
of payment is retained by customers until the end of the
retention period as the Group's entitlement to the final payment
is conditional on the satisfaction of the service quality by the
customers over a certain period as stipulated in the contracts.

Trading of tools and equipment

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of tools and
equipment and payment is generally due within 30 days upon
delivery.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

REVENUE (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Performance obligation (continued)

Unsatisfied performance obligations related to construction
contracts:

(ii)

Y U

RA %5 80 3R P E

31 March2022 202243 A31H

8. W (#)

BEEEHWE(£E)
(i) BHREEXE)
BEEEAOZATRBOET

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTEx FHT

Amounts of transaction prices expected FEHAIE T HIRSR T IARER

to be recognised: X558

Within one year —F R 227,454 221,316
After one year —Fi& 16,624 40,100
244,078 261,416

The amounts of contract sum allocated to the remaining
performance obligations which are expected to be recognised as
revenue after one year relate to construction services, of which
the performance obligations are to be satisfied within three years.
All the other amounts of contract sum allocated to the remaining
performance obligations are expected to be recognised as
revenue within one year. The amounts disclosed above do not
include variable consideration which is constrained.

PEREHTREROEME (AR —F
BHERRWE) AN RERELE
REHEE  EERNEIRN=FR
BT "ECEB TENETHMA
Ha e BEREMER —FAER
A EXHENSETERER
HISREY AT EHME -
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9. OTHERINCOME AND GAIN 9. HWARWz=
An analysis of other income and gain is as follows: HEaW A RN -
2022 2021
2022 F 2021
HK$'000 HKS'000
FET T
Other income and gain Hi WA R Wz
Bank interest income RITFIBUA 381 1,228
Recovery of bad debts Y [e] 42 AR 687 830
Government subsidies” BATaL " - 3,136
Fair value gain on investment properties BEMEN N T ERE 1,163 -
Gross rental income from investment properties & & ¥ 2 42 & U A 138 -
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEME - BE K& HRE
and equipment 25 -
Others Hih 5 -
2,399 5194
A Government subsidies were granted from the Employment Support Scheme under A B 16 B ORI B B AF BIA TR BURT ([ 578
the Anti-epidemic Fund of the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative BRBFDOHEREESRUEETEEDL
Region (the “HKSAR Government”). There were no unfulfilled conditions or IR H A R RER GG KA E
contingencies relating to the subsidies. B
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Notes to the Financial Statements

10. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of aluminium works
related services and the trading of tools and equipment. Information
reported to the Group's chief operating decision maker for the purpose
of resource allocation and performance assessment is focused on the
operating results of the Group as a whole as the Group's resources are
integrated and no discrete operating segment financial information is
available. Accordingly, no further operating segment information is
presented.

Geographical information

(@) Revenue from external customers
All of the Group's revenues from external customers were
attributed to Hong Kong based on the location of the services
provided.

(b) Non-current assets
All of the Group's non-current assets were located in Hong Kong
based on the location of the assets.

Information about major customers
Revenue from external customers contributing to 10% or more of the
total revenue of the Group is as follows:

RA %5 80 3R P E

31 March2022 202243 A31H

10. BEDIER

AR E T B SR IR E IR
REETARRHE - RAREERERT
ERAEEEEEEARE REHEH
AR ER BT EE  RERAS
M EREERA - B
SRR AR - Ei - W — 5 25
EEDEER -

i 38 &

(a) REIMBEF YK
AEEMARBEIIBEF KT
RIBRGIREREMBERRE BN
ﬁ °

(b) FRBEE
AEBERAFRBDEERBEEM
EUEBHLRES

FREERFNER
FEZR SR B U et A8 BE AP A LE 10% 3K DA _EAYSI
EREP WM

Customer A ZEA
Customer B ZFB
Customer C BPC

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
137,703 110,423
28,627 207,705

26,020 N/AREF

! The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue of the
Group.

11. FINANCE COSTS

' HEAE Yz I S5 AR SR B A a9 10% JA = o

1. ERAK

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4

HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAT

HEREFE

Interest on lease liabilities

77 107
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12.

114

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12. FiEHAX

2022 2021

2022 5§ 2021 4F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FET T 7T

Current tax BIEATR I8

Provision for the year REEBE 384 1,061
Under-provision in prior years BEFERETR 267 1,467
651 2,528
Deferred tax EREFLIE (197) (170)
454 2,358

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) based
on the estimated assessable profit for the year ended 31 March 2022,
except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying corporation
under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime.

Under the two-tiered profits tax regime, profits tax rate for the first HK$2
million of assessable profits of qualifying corporations established in
Hong Kong will be lowered to 8.25% and profits above that amount will
be subject to the tax rate of 16.5%.

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the
rates of tax prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates,
based on existing legislation, interpretation and practices in respect
thereof.
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12.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the product of
profit before tax multiplied by the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate is as
follows:

Y U

Notes to the Financial Statements

RA %5 80 3R P E

31 March2022 202243 A31H

12. FTEEMAX @

BREmMESZEHROT -

P15 15 7 S B B A5 ATt 7 SRIA BB TS

2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx T
Profit before tax B F AT v ) 1,878 8310
Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% 1 16.5% (2021 £F : 16.5%) K1 & &
(2021:16.5%) MERMERAE TR 310 1371
Tax effect of the two-tiered profits tax FISF AR H TR s 2
rates regime (165) (165)
Under-provision in prior years BAFERETE 267 1467
Tax effect of income that is not taxable BERTBRAN T B2 (240) (653)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible 7~ A 17 B 5 B0 0 745 B2 22 78 11
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised RIEZMIIBE BN R 2 224 347
Tax concession HIBEER (20) (20)
Income tax expense FriS®if X 454 2,358
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13. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 13. FREF
The Group's profit for the year is stated after charging/(crediting) the R E B FRE AR (GEA) A&
following: Hig AR -
2022 2021
2022 2021 5
HK$'000 HKS$'000
THET FAT
Contract costs B LA 206,684 329,466
Auditor’s remuneration ZE RN & 900 1,746
Depreciation of property, WE - BB REETE
plant and equipment 18 2,350 1314
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAREENTE 19 1,474 1,269
Fair value gain on investment properties % & #123 ~ FEWK S 20 1,163 -
Lease payments not included in the KRt A EAGEFENHEENK
measurement of lease liabilities 19(b) 253 235
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEME - BENMEERZS
and equipment (25) -
Provision for impairment of contract BREERERE - F5E
assets, net* 23 316 947
(Reversal of provision)/provision for B 5 EWGRIERE (B ERE),
impairment of trade receivables, net* s - FEE 24 (1,100) 1477
Changes in provision for rectification B ITIEREZY
works* 150 (1,831)
* For the year ended 31 March 2022, salaries and allowances of HK$21,269,000 (2021: * BHE0NEIANBLEE H4 BEa
HK$24,639,000), discretionary bonuses of HK$2,619,000 (2021: HK$2,543,000), 21,269,000 7T (2021 4F © 24,639,000 7T ) « B
pension scheme contributions of HK$822,000 (2021: HK$941,000) and changes in 15IEAT 2,619,000/ 7T, (20214F : 2,543,000 7T)
provision for rectification works of HK$150,000 (2021: HK$1,831,000), respectively, are RK S 5 B4 50822,000 7 7T (2021 £F ¢ 941,000
included in contract costs disclosed above. ST ) N B T A2 4% 4 ) 150,000 7 7T (2021
F 11,831,000 70) Bt A EXFTHEMN AL
DN
# Included in “Reversal of provision/(provision) for impairment loss allowances, net” in # HAGABEEEMEEREESY [FAES
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. BEEEE (B - F5E] o
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14. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

RA %5 80 3R P E

31 March2022 202243 A31H

14. BERIRAX (BEESEHE)

2022 2021

2022 2021 4F

HK$'000 HKS'000

FHxT FHIT

Salaries, and allowances e KoREh 26,186 29,533
Discretionary bonuses B TEAL 3,163 3,079
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RIRBFET B30 936 1,056
30,285 33,668

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement plans which
are available for eligible employees in Hong Kong.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Chapter 485 of the laws of Hong Kong) for employees employed under
the jurisdiction of Hong Kong Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of
the laws of Hong Kong). The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution
retirement plan administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
Scheme, the employer and the employees are each required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income,
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group had no
forfeited contributions under the MPF Scheme and which may be used
by the Group to reduce the existing level of contributions. There were
also no forfeited contributions available at 31 March 2022 and 2021
under the MPF Scheme which may be used by the Group to reduce the
contribution payable in future years.

AEEREECERREEZTAENERH
FORMREH BIFH K -

AREBIRERSEOIF 485 Z R HEQFE
SEEEOIRT - BRBBEGIFES7TE
EERERIZEETRERB ZEERME
M AEeE([RESETE]) - &
Be:tE I mBUSEASE FHEM
FORIRGETE] - RIFRTBESHE - BERHE
BEEBASBIZEBHRBIRA Z 5% M ZE
S R AT ABBIA300008TT

HE202F K2021F3A31HIEFE -
AE@MBBESFTEE T W EE L URER
AEREEARRIEREETUKTE - HE
202F 20213831 H a4 it 2
TH T IS W SR T AN S B A LUK
AR RENF A 2 (3K o
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31 March2022 202243 H31H

15. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Companies Ordinance
and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits
of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

15. EEENEER

EERERITHRAEHMN
REBEBIMES ETRR - QREEGISE
383(1)(@) ~ (b) ~ (O B () A e 2 B (3 58
EFNmBER)ROIE 2 FREER
ETRTRABHMEELT

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 4

HK$'000 HKS'000

F&ET TFETT

Fees we 360 360
Salaries and allowances e MoERL 2,076 2,040
Discretionary bonuses B TEAL 223 200
Retirement benefits scheme contributions BRIRBFET B3R 36 36
2,695 2,636
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The emoluments of each director were as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2022

HZ222F38310ILFE

15. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ emoluments

[k
HK$'000
TER

31 March2022 202243 A31H

15. EEEARER @)

(a)

Salaries and
allowances

FEREMR
HK$'000
TER

EEMe
BEEEMM

Discretionary
bonuses

BfETA
HK$'000
TER

Eoy /NI

EE
benefit
scheme

contributions Total
RIKER
HE 5
HK$'000

TER

)
HK$'000
TER

Executive directors HTEF
Mr.Chen Yuet Wa PR S A
(Chairman and chief executive) (FEFTHAEE) - 1,038 50 18 1,106
Mr. Chan Fai BgsE - 1,038 173 18 1,229
Independent non-executive directors BUHNTEE
Mr. Chow Chi Fai BEELE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Chan Hon Ki REExAE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Yu Chi Wing FTHELEE 120 - - - 120
360 2,076 223 36 2,695
Year ended 31 March 2021 HZE2021F3831HILLEE
Executive directors HITEF
Mr. Chen Yuet Wa PR S A
(Chairman and chiefexecutive) (LTEFITHAEE) - 1020 100 18 1138
Mr. Chan Fai BBt e - 1020 100 18 1138
Independent non-executive directors BUFHITEE
Mr. Chow Chi Fai BEERE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Chan Hon Ki BEHLE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Yu Chi Wing FTHELE 120 - - - 120
360 2,040 200 36 2,636

There were no arrangements under which a director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the

year.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 « =& = —/= —FF3iR

RAFEREEERITHRAENE

KRB ME

ERB R 2 -

119



s N

RA 35 80 R B o

31 March2022 202243 H31H

15. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals in the Group for the reporting
period included 2 (2021: 2) directors whose emoluments are
reflected in the analysis presented above. The emoluments paid
to the remaining 3 (2021: 3) highest paid individuals during the
years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements

15. EEEARER @)

(b) EBEBRSHAL
RFERH  AEBREESHA
TEE2H0Q0F 2R)EF - #
EHMER EXFE2M D HTH KX
R o B 22022 KX 2021%F3 8318
IHFE - mEH3R[ Q0214 1 358)
oA LI AOMESOT

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$'000 HKS'000
FET T
Salaries and allowances e KOERh 2,370 2,262
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAT 353 420
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RIRTEFIET B3R 54 53
2,777 2,735
The emoluments fell within the following band: eNTEUTEE :
Number of individuals
A
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 =% 1,000,000 78 7T 2 2
HK$ 1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 7 7T 2 2,000,000 7 7T 1 ]

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to any of the directors or the highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the

Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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15.

16.

17.

y N\

Notes to the Financial Statements

BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS (continued)
(c)

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Saved as disclosed in Note 37, no other transactions,
arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the
business to which the Company’s subsidiaries was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly and indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any

time during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

(d) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors during the years ended 31 March 2022 and

2021,

(e) Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 March 2022, no consideration was
provided to or receivable by third parties for making available

director’s services (2021: Nil).

DIVIDENDS

The board of directors has resolved not to declare any dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based on the
profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$ 1,424,000 (2021: HK$5,952,000), and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares of 1,000,000,000 (2021: 1,000,000,000) in issue during
the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during
the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

RA %5 80 3R P E

31 March2022 202243 A31H

15. EEEARER @)

() EERXRE  ZTHIEGHNE
KER
BRI FE37ATIREE SN EEAA
RINBRARMERRI N RADRE
EHEBEREE ((TREEXHERE)
MK AR B R FRIEZ2022F
F 202143 A31 8 IFFE R (A8
MEENEMEARS ZHEE
4 e

BRAUNEE ZZEESEEH
WEAERBEZSEESNEE
ERATSHTANER  EEX
REMRZHER
HE2002FN2021E3A31HIEF
B UWENES SZEEEEH
FEABERZEEENHEER
BEBAELEHER  BERRHE
X5 o

(d)

MERMHEEREMOE=RL
FTHRHRE
REZ2002F3A831BIEFE - #
ERERBREEREMAE =X
F + IR S = 5 Ut FE TR R (B
(20214 @ &) -

(e)

iz 2

EECHARTETREAE202F3A831H
IEFEREMALE (2021 4F @ 48) -

RRAREBEAEREERER

16.

17.

ERERABANSEIREARARDA
WA A FEIGF RE 1,424,000 74 7T (2021
£ 159520008 7C) R EFERNE BEITE B
B h0 #E S 5 #21,000,000,000 & (2021 £F
1,000,000,000 A% ) 5+ o

REBRE F2022F K202163 831 H
I FEBETAD I TEEEEL B -
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31 March2022 202243 H31H

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. Y% - BMERKXE

Leasehold Office Motor
Carpark improvements  equipment vehicles Total

By BENEKE BOERE nE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRT TRET TAT TRET TRT

31 March 2022 2022%3A31H
At31 March 2021 and K201 F3A318 R
at 1 April 2021: 2021F4H18
Cost 5% - 4,225 3,862 724 8,811
Accumulated depreciation ZEE - (832) (1,349) (495) (2,676)
Net carrying amount REFE - 3,393 2,513 229 6,135

At1 April 2021, netof accumulated  R2021%F4 818

depreciation NBREFTE - 3,393 2,513 229 6,135
Additions R - 178 7 236 421
Disposals HE - - - (234) (234)
Transfer from investment BRARENE

properties (note 20) (Fi5E20) 1,400 - - - 1,400
Depreciation charge for the year FANERS (27) (1,485) (693) (145) (2,350)
Accumulated depreciation written REERERZ:t

back upon disposal wE - - - 234 234

At 31 March 2022, net of accumulated 72202283 A31H -

depreciation MG EEHE 1,373 2,086 1,827 320 5,606
At31 March 2022 R202%38318 :

Cost 5% 1,400 4,403 3,869 726 10,398

Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (27) (2,317) (2,042) (406) (4,792)

Net carrying amount REFE 1,373 2,086 1,827 320 5,606
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31 March2022 202243 A31H

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 18. ¥1% - BMERRK®E#)
Leasehold Office Motor
Carpark  improvements equipment vehicles
By MEMEEE BRER & +
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT T THT THT TR
31 March 2021 202134310
At 31 March 2020 and RR2020F3A31B K
at 1 April 2020; 20204718
Cost AR - 138 1372 724 2234
Accumulated depreciation ZEE - (83) (882) (397) (1362)
Net carrying amount REFE - 55 490 327 872

At 1 April 2020, net of accumulated R2020F4818

depreciation NBREFTE - 55 490 327 872
Additions NE - 4,087 2490 - 6,577
Depreciation charge for the year FRTERS - (749) (467) (98) (1314)

At 31 March 2021, net of accumulated 72202153 8318 -

depreciation M2t E - 3393 2513 229 6,135
At 31 March 2021: R2021F3 8318

Cost AR - 425 3,862 724 8811

Accumulated depreciation ZEE - (832) (1,349) (495) (2,676)

Net carrying amount REFE - 3393 2513 229 6,135
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31 March2022 202243 H31H

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19. EREEE

Leased

properties

HEWE

HK$’000

it

At 1 April 2020 202054 A1 H 742

Additions INE 7,206
Remeasurement upon modification BREBENTE (3,603)
Depreciation e (1,269)

At 31 March 2021 and 1April 2021 R2021F3 A31HK2021F4 A 1H 3,076
Depreciation e (1,474)

At 31 March 2022 202263 H31H 1,602

Notes: Bt E
(a) The Group has lease contracts for carparks, office premises and office equipment. (@) NEBBRGES  PRASALMARETE
The lease of office premises is negotiated for a term of 3 years (2021: 3 years). HMEAH - WMABAALEE AH3IF (2021
Carparks generally have lease terms of 12 months or less and office equipment is F:3F)  FESHEP—RBNEAIAT
individually of low value. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and R AZREENEERK —MBMms @ &
subleasing the leased assets outside the Group. ERAAAEEAIIATEHEREHHAES
=

(b) Lease liabilities of HK$1,725,000 (2021: HK$3,250,000) are recognised with related (b) R2022F3A31H - A E & E1,7250007% 7T
right-of-use assets of HK$1,602,000 (2021: HK$3,076,000) as at 31 March 2022. The (20214 : 3,250,000 70 ) BLAE A R E A &
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in 1,602,000 7T (2021 4F © 3,076,000 74 7T ) — Al HE

the leased assets that are held by the lessor. R BHEAARENHEEE 2 ERERN

TR p 5 I T 5 AL () 2254 o

2022 2021
2022 2021 4F

HK$’000 HK$000
TiEx BT

Depreciation expenses on right-of-use assets FERREEREMRS 1,474 1,269
Interest expenses on lease liabilities (included in HEABEMNSRA%

finance costs) (G ARLE K A) 77 107
Expenses relating to short-term lease FRAEHEENRAE

(included in administrative expenses) (GtATTERSZ) 154 139
Expenses relating to lease of low-value assets EREEEEERENMX

(included in administrative expenses) GEATTERAX) 99 9%

(0) Details of total cash outflow for leases is set out in note 34(c) to the consolidated © AHBEEE SR AENEHEHENES B

financial statements. M 34(0) ©
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20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
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31 March2022 202243 A31H

20. REWE

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 5

HK$’000 HKS' 000

F#&xT T

At 1 April M4 A1 8 - -

Additions NE 81,937 -

Fair value gains NEEWES 1,163 -
Transfer to property, plant and equipment WA BB NERE

(note 18) (BzE18) (1,400) -

At 31 March M3A3A 81,700 -

The Group leases out its industrial buildings under operating leases with
rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for an initial period of 2
years. The leases of industrial buildings are fixed over the lease term.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the lease
arrangements, as all leases are denominated in HKD. The lease contracts
do not contain lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of
lease term.

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group measures its investment properties at fair value. The
investment properties were revalued by Roma Appraisals Limited, an
independent qualified valuer, who hold recognised relevant
professional qualification and has recent experience in the locations
and segments of the investment properties valued, at 31 March 2022 on
an open market value basis. For all investment properties, their current
use equates to the highest and best use.

The Group's finance department includes a team that review the
valuation performed by the independent valuer for financial reporting
purposes. This team reports directly to the senior management and the
Audit Committee. Discussions of valuation processes and results are
held between the management and valuers at least once every six
months, in line with the Group’s interim and annual reporting dates.

AEBERECEHEEHEETRET - %
AWEBESE - HOMP RE2F - THRE
FHHEEEBREE -

AEBARABE LB M AZINE R
RABHEEANETTIE - HERHTE
EEREAEHERSREEEMENE
e

AEEGHERE
AEEZRAFEFEHREDE - KEY
¥ BB LA B {H E BT Roma Appraisals
Limited A 2022 F3 A3 A E RAFAMEER
EEM - WHEMFERERTEESE
1& - WE AT E AR E 4 F A 8930 B
E AT B c BATEREMEMmE -
HBTRZERESa REERS

AREEMBEHOESAME RS BOE
BB ERA G EETRE - HEEREE
AEREEENERLZEQER - EEE
HAEME D ENEA R ®BERER
BR UAGEAEETHLRFERSH
Hi o
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31 March2022 202243 H31H

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 20. REWME »#)

Valuation processes of the Group (continued)

At each financial period end, the finance department verifies all major
inputs to the independent valuation reports; assesses property valuation
movements when compared to the prior year valuation reports; and
holds discussions with the independent valuer.

Valuation techniques

Fair value of investment properties for industrial building units in Hong
Kong is generally derived using the direct comparison method which is
based on comparing the property to be valued directly with other
comparable properties, which have recently transacted. However, given
the heterogeneous nature of real estate properties, appropriate
adjustments are usually required to allow for any qualitative differences
that may affect the price likely to be achieved by the property under
consideration.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the year and
there were no transfers among the fair value hierarchy during the year.

The following table gives information about how the fair values of these
investment properties are determined as well as the fair value hierarchy
in which the fair value measurements are categorised based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements is
observable.

Carrying value of investment

properties held by the Group Valuation

AEBEEERRE (&)
EEEMBSER - BB eRES S
UIEERSHAAEABA ¢ ARG
EfE P FERERSLRTHEE  RE
B ERETTR W

fh{E i

BRETEBTEUNREMERTFE—
REAERLBER - DERBEGE
ZHMERFEA LR 5 2 HMA] HELBRY
EEEZRLE - A ERFEHEDEZ
SRS  BREAREM AT EEE
BETOMEMEZBBRNERERED

EERE -

FABERMHEZS  FABEQTE
JE A TR A o

TERUEMESRENEATEET
R E R AR A P BRI A FE
BABBNTRERERESBNHAT
R -

Relationship of

in the consolidated statement Fair value technique(s) Significant unobservable
of financial positions hierarchy and key input(s) unobservable input(s) inputs to fair value
AEBRREMBRREREE AVTERTEHE
MR EMEIRHEE AVEZER HEETRERAARE EATTHRAAZE BWABBHE
Industrial building units Level 3 Direct comparable - Price per square feet, The higher the price
inHong Kong based on market using market direct per square feet,
2022: HK$81,700,000 observable transactions comparable and taking the higher
2021: Nil of similar properties and into account of location, the fair value.
adjusted to reflect age and other individual
the locations and factors which are HK$3,436
conditions of and HKS4,122 per square
the subject property. feet respectively.
BEIRETEN F34 ERTELBEE —RE BYHERERRBTSE STHRARERES -
2022 : 81,700,000 7T BUDRODEIERER BALER - WEERM W ATEES-
WIEF T RHALERABARKE B Bk LHEMERNE
M B KRR - R)PRIRBTHER

3436 BT R 41228
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20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Valuation techniques (continued)
The valuations of investment properties were based on the economic,
market and other conditions as they exist on, and with information
available to management as of 31 March 2022. Given the outbreak of
COVID-19 which has caused high volatility to the global economy and
uncertainties to the property market in Hong Kong, this disruption has
increased the uncertainty of the assumptions adopted in the valuation
process. Consequently, the on-going development of COVID-19 may
cause unexpected volatility in the future fair value of the investment
properties subsequent to 31 March 2022.
21. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

w \\¥

RA %5 80 3R P E

31 March2022 202243 A31H

20. REWZE (&)

fEE R (&)
WEMENHEDERBENLE - 5
FEAMGHAREREREZE 202293 A
3VHB TS E R o ERCOVID-19H) & 8
BEYHEREEERBAES - WARSY
¥MISTERTBEZ - W FEEINGEE
MEPEABRENTHEE M - Bt -
COVID-19 M B B R 1] AL 2 B B 2022 F 3
A31BZBIEEWENRKAFELR
BINEE -

ANRE - REREMEWRR
|

21.

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 5

HK$’000 HKS' 000

FET T

Prepayments AT RIE 8,797 30,323

Rental deposits Heke 220 220
Deposits paid for property, plant and Yz - BB REEN

equipment Eftize 632 241

Due from ultimate holding company R BAEAR A BRI 64 49

Other deposits and other receivables HEhize R H A EUIE 527 823

10,240 31,656

Less: Portion classified as non-current assets B DEAERBEEMNT D (852) (461)

Portion classified as current assets PEARBEENE S 9,388 31,195

The financial assets included in the above balances relate to deposits
and receivables for which there was no recent history of default and
past due amounts.

The Group has applied the general approach to provide for expected
credit losses for deposits and other receivables and considered past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions
in calculating the expected credit loss rate. As at 31 March 2022 and
2021, the expected credit loss rate for deposits and other receivables
was assessed to be minimal.
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31 March2022 202243 H31H

22. DEFERRED TAX 22, IEAEBIIE
The movements in deferred liability and asset during the year are as REXN  BELBBELEEEZESHNT :
follows:

Accelerated

Tax losses tax
Impairment recognised depreciation Total
2R Rt
A{E BEEE BAME et
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FTHET THET FTHET
At 1 April 2020 202054818 - - (95) (95)
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to FREAER/(BER
profit or loss during the year k) KRR
(note 12) (P5E12) 302 - (132) 170

At 31 March 2021 and at 1 April 2021 A 20213 A31B R

2021F4H1H 302 - (227) 75
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to FR(ABZEMER),/
profit or loss during the year STABEH
(note 12) EIEBIR (Bt 12) (129) 36 290 197
At 31 March 2022 R202%F3HA31H 173 36 63 272
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for TREIARGES M BER AT B HRERD
consolidated financial statement of financial position purposes: EIERR I &R (BREH1R) 21T -
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
HK$’000 HKS$’000
THET T
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIBAE = (227)
Deferred tax assets RIETIHE & 272 302
272 75
As at 31 March 2022, the Group had unused tax losses of approximately R2022F3A3H REENKREAHRB
HK$4,263,000 (2021: HK$2,690,000) available for offset against future TBET18 494,263,000 7T, (2021 £E : 2,690,000
profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of D) oI R AHE A c E gt E P
HK$218,000 (2021: nil) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been B #2180008 7L (2021 4F « T ) HERIEIL
recognised in respect of the remaining HK$4,045,000 (2021: TIBEE - AARIORMN R F88 - $ifm
HK$2,690,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. All gt 8 T 4,045,000 7T (2021 £F : 2,690,000
unrecognised tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely. BT ) MERIRIE T T E EE © T A AMERT

RER ] ER A -
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31 March2022 202243 A31H

23. CONTRACT ASSETS/(LIABILITY) 23. EHEE (AE)

2022 2021

2022 2021 4F

HK$'000 HKS' 000

FET F&TT

Contract assets ABHEE

— Unbilled revenue — REERWE 11,770 10,558
— Retention receivables — EWIRE® 36,906 34,711
48,676 45,269
Impairment A (669) (353)
48,007 44916

Contract liability EHBE 4,310 944

Movements in gross carrying amounts of contract assets: AUVEEEGBRE

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 4F

HK$’000 HKS' 000

FHET FET

At beginning of the year FH) 45,269 53,448
Additions in contract assets BHEELN 20,126 32,087
Transfer to trade receivables HREE S EWGRTE (16,719) (39,665)
Write-off of contract assets EHEEME - (601)
At end of the year FR 48,676 45,269
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23.

130

CONTRACT ASSETS/(LIABILITY) (continued)

Unbilled revenue included in contract assets represents the Group's
right to receive consideration for work completed and not yet billed
because the rights are conditional upon the quality and quantity check
by the customers on the construction work completed by the Group
and the work is pending for the certification by the customers. The
contract assets are transferred to the trade receivables when the rights
become unconditional, which is typically at the time when the Group
obtains the certification of the completed construction work from the
customers.

Retention receivables included in contract assets represent the Group's
right to consideration for work performed but not yet collectible
because the rights are conditional on the satisfaction of the service
quality by the customers over a certain period as stipulated in the
contracts. The contract assets are transferred to the trade receivables
when the rights become unconditional, which is typically at the expiry
date of the period for the provision of assurance by the Group on the
service quality of the construction work performed by the Group.

The increase in contract assets as at 31 March 2022 were the results of
increase in the provision of construction services near the end of the
year and retention money withheld by the customers.

The decrease in contract assets as at 31 March 2021 were the result of
decrease in the provision of construction services near the end of the

year.

The Group's trading terms and credit policy with customers are
disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements.
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BRREHABNEZEREH)  6H0E
EEBEE SRR -

R2022F3A31TBAHNEERMBAR
AFRREEAZERS EEFNB AR
B8 o
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Notes to the Financial Statements

23. CONTRACT ASSETS/(LIABILITY) (continued)

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets is as

follows:

Y U

RA %5 80 3R P E

31 March2022 202243 A31H

23. EHNEBE (A #®
AUEEMTES RS BB T -

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 &
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FAT
Within one year —FR 28,102 16,300
After one year —F 1% 19,905 28,616
48,007 44916
The movements in loss allowance for impairment of contract assets are BHEEREBBBHEEESHOT -

as follows:

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 4F

HK$’000 HKS' 000

TERT FE7T

At beginning of year F4) 353 7
Provision for impairment losses, net BEEBERE P 13 316 947
Amount written off as uncollectible W AE LN E NS - (601)
At end of year FR 669 353

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates
for the measurement of the expected credit losses of the contract assets
are based on those of the trade receivables as the contract assets and
the trade receivables are from the same customer bases. The provision
rates of contract assets are based on days past due of trade receivables
for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss patterns.
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is
available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.

REHRE A RRABEREETRED
1 AFHEREMERER - sTBAMNEE
HEHEEBEENBEXRTDERE SRR
FENEREEEREEE  RA/AL
BENEZREFEHIRER KPR -
BHEENBRBIEANAGRUBER
ANZEEF 2 AN E S R RIA
BHIRBETE - At E R RN
R BBBELRNSREAHASNERS
EFE - AR R ARG EA R IE R 6
BERAEER -
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23. CONTRACT ASSETS/(LIABILITY) (continued) 23. ERNEE(BE)#)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the TXHEIERABREBERBFTENEAEEE
Group's contract assets using a provision matrix: NEENEZEERBER :
2022 2021
2022 fF 2021 &
Expected credit loss rate TEEEEEER 1.37% 0.78%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) FREAE(TET) 48,676 45,269
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) TEEIEEBE(TET) 669 353
Movements in contract liability: aHaBE#E)
2022 2021
2022 2021 5
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FHTT
At beginning of the year FH) 944 -
Receipt from customers WERE = #)FRIR 4,310 944
Revenue recognised that was included in FUFAEHEBLEHRDN
the contract liability balance at [
beginning of the year (944) -
At end of the year FxX 4,310 944
The contract liability primarily related to the Group’s obligation to ERNBREFERAEEME P E® RS
transfer services to customer for which the Group had received NETER M AEEZWRELHK
consideration from the customer. =
24. TRADE RECEIVABLES 24. EZ RWFIE
2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
HK$'000 HKS'000
F#&T FHTT
Trade receivables Z 5 W KRIE 23,882 62,092
Impairment RE (380) (1,480)
23,502 60,612
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Trade receivables mainly represented receivables for contract works.
Management generally submits interim payment applications to
customers on a monthly basis containing a statement setting out
management’s estimation of the valuation of the works completed in
the preceding month. Upon receiving the interim payment application,
the quantity surveyors of the customer will verify such valuation of
works completed and issue an interim payment certificate within 30
days. Within 30 days after the issuance of the interim payment
certificate, the customer will make payment to the Group based on the
certified amount stipulated in such certificate, deducting any retention
money in accordance with the contract. Trade receivables are non-
interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the progress payment certificate date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

RA %5 80 3R P E

31 March2022 202243 A31H

24, ESRINRIE (&)

BSRBFIEETEASHTIZEUGE -
EREBAEFARNTP RGN RE
FEPHAEREY LARRIITEEN
HEEITHETHHRE - USRI
Be - BEPATREDAISATE R 30K N
FEORTIIEMNHE DR RE
E-FRIBRRNRESRIOAN T
FHRERZEEFTHREMZESHRAAL
EETAFIE - WIERA LR T ARE
& BEHEBGRIEWTTFE o

PR B R AR IR 2 A BB IR B 83 40
REBEREREENEZERERGENRE D
M

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHBT T

Within 30 days 30 KA 17,313 3,923
3110 90 days 31290K 6,081 54,067
91 to 120 days 91 E 120K 108 902
Over 120 days i 120K = 1,720
23,502 60,612

The movements in loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables

are as follows:

B 5 RSB RERERERZBNT

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 4F

HK$’000 HKS' 000

FET FH&T

At beginning of the year F7] 1,480 3
(Reversal of provision)/provision for BEEE (BERR) 13

impairment losses, net Bl o FEE (1,100) 1477

At end of the year FR 380 1,480
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates
are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off if past due for
more than 120 days and are not subject to enforcement activity.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the
Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 March 2022

Current

Expected credit loss rate BHEEBEX
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) EEAE(THT)
Expected credit loss (HK$'000) BHEEEEE(TAT)

0.80%
17,453

24, ESRINRIE (&)

REREBHRABRBEBETRED
T AFFEEREERE - BEXRTER
EREUBEEANNSZERF 53487
RIEHI B U - 25T R R g4
R BEEREMARSEBHAUSHNEHRB
FBIE - FRTkR RoR RS E R TE R
AERAIEEAR - —RME - BHEYK
TE 0361 AR R 38 120 K N 1B 78 52 PR A 54 i 0
TTEE BT LA S

TREIEAREEEAENAEEE
5 RUGAN EERBRE R :

A 2022%F3 H31H

Past due
s
Less than 31to Over

30 days 90days 3 months Total

DH30X  31E90k RB3EA o
0.97% 12.13% 100.00% 1.59%
5,643 684 102 23,882
55 83 102 380

As at 31 March 2021

Current

M2021F3H31H

Expected credit loss rate BHEEBREX
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) EEEE(TET)
Expected credit loss (HK$'000) BEEEEE(TAT)

0.78%
3,954

Past due
Less than 31to Over
30 days 90 days 3 months
PR30K  IENKR  BB3EA
0.84% 11.96% 31.69% 2.38%
53,956 1,664 2518 62,092
452 199 798 1,480

All trade receivables are denominated in HKD.
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25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED 25. BeRBEeEEEBUREH

DEPOSITS F®&
2022 2021
2022 fF 2021 4F
HK$’000 HKS$" 000
FERT FHTT
Cash and bank balances & MIRITE 6 62,781 74,835
Time deposits THFR 22,825 39,231
85,606 114,066
Less: Time deposits pledged for B BRERTTRRE FT
banking facilities 2 BT 33(@a) (22,825) (29,231)
Cash and cash equivalents B RIBESEEE 62,781 84,835
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank RITHESBRBEFTARITERFNELZZE
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods of BRI S - BHIFEHIE R 2 EIfR B — K&
between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash ZERATE BFEAREFEZAFIESENK
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short ME - WiHIERE RS B BA1F 0K = B AR A
term time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits are B o RITEBRNEHER T ERREZER
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. 0F Iz 3T HE U 4 58 49 E0 8 HYER 1T ©
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26. TRADE PAYABLES 26. E5EARIE
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FH&T
Trade payables B SRS RIA 8,342 11,311
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of reporting R EHRBIEREZELRNREFHRAHEH2
period, based on the date of invoice and payment certificate, is as I E S EMNRBENERSTOT -
follows:

2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
HK$’000 HKS$ 000
TH T T
Within 30 days EPNA 3,860 5,900
31 to 90 days 31 REOKXR 1,536 3,910
Over 90 days B o0 K 2,946 1,501
8,342 11,311
Trade payables are non-interest-bearing. The payment terms of trade B HEMFIBITEE - EFEMNFEN
payables are stipulated in the relevant contracts with credit periods of NZEBREEBENET  EEH—RA
30 days in general. 30K °
All trade payables are denominated in HKD. BB S ENFIAEABTTEHE »
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27. OTHER PAYABLE AND ACCRUALS 27. HttENRERETEH
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
HK$’000 HKS$'000
THET TFETT
Other payable H T RUR 31 -
Accruals ezt E 3,181 1,889
3,212 1,889
At 31 March 2022 and 2021, other payable was non-interest-bearing. F20224F K 2021 F3 A31H - HAth &

FIERTEER -

28. LEASE LIABILITIES 28. HEEE

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during the FAEEAGENREBERESHHT
year are as follows:

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$'000 HKS'000
FERT FAT
At beginning of the year 1) 3,250 747
New lease e - 7,206
Accretion of interest recognised during the year ~ FRIERHIE S F) S 77 107
Payments during the year FRRRK (1,602) (1,363)
Modification 1825 - (3,447)
At end of the year FR 1,725 3,250
Analysed into: BT &EETHT
Current portion mENER 1,288 1,530
Non-current portion FETRENEB 437 1,720
1,725 3,250
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 6(b) to the HEBENINBMASTNEGEE B ]RE
consolidated financial statements. izt 6(b) % EE o
All lease liabilities are denominated in HKD. FrEMHEREHUETEE -
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29. PROVISIONS FOR RECTIFICATION WORKS

29, B T2RE

2022 2021

2022 £ 2021 5

HK$’000 HKS'000

FET FH&T

At beginning of the year F 1) 7,119 8,950
Net provision during the year FREEFE 13 4,656 1,789
Amounts utilised during the year FNME AT (4,506) (3620)
At end of the year SN 7,269 7,119

The Group generally provides defect liability periods of one to two years
to its customers for its works performed, during which defective works
are rectified or replaced.

The amount of the provision is estimated based on the past experience
of the level of defective works and the estimation basis is reviewed on
an ongoing basis and revised where appropriate.

30. SHARE CAPITAL

AEE-READTITIREAT,REM
—EMFREETH - BERETESE
TTRREER -

BEzeRIREBERBIREZLR
TUAEET o et 2 BETIZFBEEET I
fmEt RN EE R ERERT -

30. BRA

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FATT
Authorised: JETE
10,000,000,000 (2021: 10,000,000,000) 10,000,000,000 %
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each (2021 € : 10,000,000,000 %)
Bix001 BTz LR 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRAR
1,000,000,000 (2021: 1,000,000,000) 1,000,000,000 f%
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each (2021 4 : 1,000,000,000 %)
BR001 BTz ik 10,000 10,000
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30. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

A summary of movements in the Company’s authorised and issued
share capital is as follows:

Authorised: JEIE
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, 20204818 -
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 20213 H31 8
2021 F 418K

RA %5 80 3R P E

31 March2022 202243 A31H

30. A& (&)

RRBDEERBETRANEEH 2 40
T

Number of Nominal value
ordinary of ordinary
shares shares
EEREE
HKS$'000
T

HERBE

202293 A31H 10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRERE
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, R2020F4 A1 H -
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 20213 /318
202154 ATAK
202293 H31H 1,000,000,000 10,000

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to maximise the
return to the shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Group
manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light
of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the
underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the payment of dividends, issue new shares, buy-
back shares, raise new debts, redeem existing debts or sell assets to
reduce debts.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is the Group's
total debts (comprising lease liabilities) over its total equity. The Group’s
policy is to keep the gearing ratio at a reasonable level. The Group's
gearing ratio as at 31 March 2022 was 0.7% (2021: 1.3%). The decrease in
the gearing ratio of the Group is primarily due to the decrease in the
balance of lease liabilities.

The externally imposed capital requirements for the Group are: (i) in
order to maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange it has to have a
public float of at least 25% of the shares; and (ii) to meet financial
covenants attached to the banking facilities granted.

AEBEEESNBERRREASEH
BRERE 2N WRBBRIEEE MR
Y RERANER AR -

AEBERBERRRLIIBEERNSHE - KN
SERBEEARRBLERERBEENR
REHEEEAEBLELFE - RS
KABENGRE - ANEE A REHEH
BB BITHR BERD  SRHE
% BEOREBEBERHEEEARIE
5 o

AEERBEERBLRERELR MA
LRI A EENESRBE(RIERE
BE)GUAHEIREAE - AEENK
RABAEABLRREFESEKTE - &
EEP0NFIANENEEAGBL X
A07% (20214 1 13%) - NEBEEEE
LLERTREEHREEEELEHR D
ﬁ °

AEBWINEEARBRR : (VRBRFR
2 25% R BRI E A RB R PT £
K (A8 TERIRITRE M SN ER

=it

i °
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31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 31. KA TR T

COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the Company AR BN IS BAARE B AR R &R
at the end of the reporting period is as follows: NS
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$’000 HKS'000
F#ET T
NON-CURRENT ASSET IRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries BB A T _%* _x
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Prepayments AR RIB 228 112
Due from subsidiaries VRS NGIE 73,830 75,653
Cash and cash equivalents Re kBEeSEIER 322 323
Total current assets MEEEBE 74,380 76,088
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 74,380 76,088
Net assets BEFE 74,380 76,088
EQUITY s
Issued capital BEITRA 10,000 10,000
Reserves (note) R (M) 64,380 66,088
Total equity ey k] 74,380 76,088
* Less than HKS1,000 * R 1,00085T

Approved by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2022 and are signed on its M2022F6 A0 K ESTGHAE KRB N

behalf by: TEERREE
Mr. Chen Yuet Wa Mr. Chan Fai
PREE AL BRIE £
Director Director
EF EF
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31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

RA %5 80 3R P E

31 March2022 202243 A31H

31. XATMBBEMRRE @)

GEX
ARTEBEEMT -

Share
premium Accumulated
account losses Total
PR 47 )23 B AR RitEE st
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT FHET

At 1 April 2020 202044 A1 H 91369 (23,178) 68,191
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year FAEBEBREAEBIERE - (2103) (2103)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 R2021F3A31H K

202154/ 1H 91,369 (25,281) 66,088
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year FREIEREHEIEEEE - (1,708) (1,708)
At 31 March 2022 202263 A31H 91,369 (26,989) 64,380

32. RESERVES

(a)

(b)

Group

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium
Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
funds in the share premium account of the Company are
distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which the dividend
is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a
position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

(ii) Mergerreserve
The balances of the merger reserve as at 31 March 2022
and 2021 represent the aggregate of the paid-up share
capital of the subsidiaries now comprising the Group prior
to the completion of the reorganisation.

32. f#E

(a) A&EH
REBRAFERBEFENEE

EXIE

(b) EEMHERAR
(i) RtPEE
REFASHEARE - ARF]
Rt ERR P AR E S A [A
RARRDIK - AR R EEEZE
ZIRBBEEEREK - NRAH
BRENBEEERERKBRR
R B ETS o

iy &EpPHRE
M2022F K% 2021F3 4312
AR EESRIEEETHATR
B AEBZHBARZE
B 2 48D o
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33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

142

(a)

At the end of the current and prior years, contingent liabilities not
provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

Guarantees given to a bank for: THRITIRE
Surety bonds EERE

33. AAREE

(a)

RAFREIGBEFER - KR
BRBBOIARBLT ¢

2022
2022 &

2021
2021 4
HKS' 000
F&T

HK$’000
TET

33,039 39,539

As at 31 March 2022, the surety bonds were secured by the
pledge of time deposits of the Group amounting to
HK$22,825,000 (2021: HK$29,231,000) and corporate guarantee
executed by the Company amounting to HK$50,000,000 (2021:
HK$50,000,000) respectively.

In the ordinary course of the Group’s construction business, the
Group has been subject to a number of claims due to personal
injuries suffered by employees of the Group or the Group's
subcontractors in accidents arising out of and in the course of
their employment. The directors of the Company are of the
opinion that such claims are well covered by insurance and
would not result in any material adverse impact on the financial
position or results and operations of the Group.
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34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

(a)

(b)

Major non-cash transactions

()

(ii)

(ifi)

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group had a
non-cash addition to right-of-use asset and lease liability of
HKSNil and HKSNil, respectively, in respect of a lease
arrangement for office premises (2021: right-of-use asset
and lease liability of HK$7,206,000 and HK$7,206,000,
respectively).

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group had a
non-cash lease modification to right-of-use asset and lease
liability of HKSNil and HKSNIl, respectively, in respect of a
lease arrangement for office premises (2021: HK$3,603,000
and HK$3,447,000).

Property, plant and equipment of HK$241,000 (2021:
HKSNil) were reclassified from deposits paid for property,
plant and equipment during the year ended 31 March
2022.

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

RA %5 80 3R P E

31 March2022 202243 A31H

34. ZEBREREBRME

(a)

(b)

FTEFRERS

U]

(i)

(iif)

REE2002F3A831H EF
E AEEFRNRLSAHEER
Mo RISk EREEE ME
EAENIERSEMTE TR
ZETLQOF: FREEE
M EEED B A 7,206,000
TT K. 7,206,000 7 7T) °

HZ 20023831 BHILEE
REBBPABIBELYES
PlEFAREEREEREE
LIFRSHEBHTETRE
78 (2021 4F : 3,603,000 7T
¥.3,447,00087C) °

HZE 2023831 HILFE
YIEE -~ RS SRR 241,000 78 7T
(20214 « TEIL) HYIE - K
EREHENENEREETH

B

METDHELENEBEEE

Lease

liabilities

HEAE

HKS'000

TFETT

At 1 April 2020 20204 H 18 747
Changes from financing cash flows MERSREH (1,256)

New lease e 7,206
Reassessment and revision of lease terms EHIFE B HEHR (3,447)

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 R2021 3 A31 B R 2021F4A18 3,250
Changes from financing cash flows REReR=EL (1,525)

At 31 March 2022 7202243 A 31 A 1725
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34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (continued)

34. MERERERMET @)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases () HERSHRLARE
Amounts included in the cash flow statements for leases
comprise the following:

HARERSRERNSEAIEN
TRE:

144

2022 2021

2022 2021 4

HK$'000 HKS$’000

FHET T4

Within operating cash flows KERSREBEN 330 342
Within financing cash flows MERENEHEN 1,525 1,256
1,855 1,598

These amounts relate to the following:

HZECRENTRIEGE

2021

2022 F 2021 4

HK$'000 HKS'000

FERT FAT

Lease rental paid BNES 253 235
Principal elements of lease payments HENZNASHBD 1,525 1,256
Interest of lease payments MERFREHE 77 107
1,855 1,598
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35. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 35. EAEIE
Capital commitments contracted for at the end of the reporting period WMEH R T 4B M RE LN E NEIE
but not yet incurred are as follows: wm
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$'000 HKS$" 000
THT FHTT
Property, plant and equipment ME - R MRS 3,076 -
36. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 36. KEHERH
The Group as lessor AEEERHBEA
Operating leases relate to investment property owned by the Group KEHE PN AREFBBEENIREWE -
with lease terms of 2 years. The lessee does not have an option to A 2F - FAEHEME AT AERE
purchase the property at the expiry of the lease period. BEZE -
Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows: HENERBRKEENZKNOT
2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FH&T
Within one year —FR 156 -
In the second year F-F 23 -
Total HEt 179 -
The following table presents the amounts reported in profit or loss: TREIREZRENSHE -

2022 2021
2022 & 2021 4

HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT TATT

Lease income on operating leases EHEMNHEERA 138 -
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

37. BEEA RS

(a) Compensation of key management personnel of the (a) AEEFEEEASWEMH
Group
2022 2021
2022 fF 2021 &
HK$'000 HKS'000
FET FAT
Salaries and allowances e - B ROERL 2,076 2,240
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAT 223 200
Pension scheme contributions RIKEBEH BRI 36 36
2,335 2,276
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, AEEFEEBAB(BREESK
including directors’ and the chief executive’s remuneration, is TR MR AR & BT B RK
disclosed in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements. B5E15 R ER -

(b) In addition to the balances, arrangements and transactions (b) BRTEZEMBHRERESTEMRE
detailed elsewhere in these financial statements and Report of RETHINNGESR THEERS
the Directors, the Group had the following transaction with a AN AREEFNF N EL— 2 B T i
related party during the year: TR ST :

2022 2021

2022 2021 4

HK$’000 HKS'000

F#&T FAT

Lease payments paid to Ms. Wong Chun Siu, 245 P12 ER 2 B 48

the spouse of the Controlling Shareholder ~ BEH XL THBERNK 1,320 880

The transaction was conducted on terms and conditions mutually ZERSTIREAREERAARETL
agreed between the Group and the related party. 7 B9 BV IE TR R AR HETT -

(c)  During the year ended 31 March 2022, the transactions in respect (c) EZE202%F3A31HIEFE » Lilt(b)
of item (b) above are also a continuing connected transaction as BN SMEETREIFE4AEE
defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules which are THATHFEBRERS  #Hrl
exempted from reporting, annual review and independent FEMBAUFHAZETHR - F
shareholders’ approval under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. EERRE T RERAE o
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38. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 38. MEHEREE
Saved as disclosed elsewhere in this report, on 8 April 2022, the Group AR EEMEEATREE I © 72022
entered into a provisional agreement with a vendor, an independent F4R8H AEEBE—RES (ABLE
third party, pursuant to which the Group has agreed to acquire and the =)V RS Bt XEBERRE
vendor has agreed to sell a premises and car parking space located at EHEMEACREHEMNREEHNR
Factory B on 4/F and Carpark Space No.4 on G/F of Kwai Shing Industrial A B E6-40RER T ERE(—
Building (Phase 1), 36-40 Tai Lin Pai Road, Kwai Chung, N.T, Hong Kong H) 4B E R T 458 2B M E R
(the “premises and the carpark space”) at the consideration of FEMN(ZEWENRBEEM])  REA
HK$15,650,000. An initial deposit of HK$1,565,000 was paid by the 15,650,000/8 7T © AEBE R 2029488
Group on 8 April 2022 and the remaining sum of HK$14,085,000 had H X8 E%$1565000%8 T R& T
been fully paid by the Group on 1 June 2022. 14,085,000 % 7T B R AN SR B 2022566 A 1
AAEBEAT -
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A Summary of the results and assets, liabilities and equity of the Group forthe  #$FE RSB R EC TR EXM KRR TR
last five financial years, as extracted from the Prospectus and the published T REMBEE s AEBELEREE  AER
audited financial statements, is set out below. This summary does not form — HEREEEEFI 20T o A E I A KA EAZ 8
part of the audited financial statements. BT 2 —EH °

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=t-HLFE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
2022 F 2021 5 20204 20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT THET THET FHET TAT
Revenue gy 223,058 350,847 245474 232,957 216,261
Gross profit EF 16,374 21,381 60,920 55,887 40,829
Profit before tax B 75 A A 1,878 8310 35,856 41,030 32,455
Profit and total comprehensive 4 A% 1| | 2 F i35 48 (8
income for the year 1,424 5952 27,650 33,210 27,174
Non-current assets FERBEE 90,032 9974 1757 1318 1,739
Current assets nEEE 177,719 256,235 255,824 137,756 101,314
Total assets BEE 267,751 266,209 257,581 139,074 103,053
Current liabilities nHAE 24,421 22,793 21,690 32,540 21,582
Net current assets MEEEFE 153,298 233442 234,134 105,216 79,732
Total assets less current BEERTDAE
liabilities 243,330 243416 235,891 106,534 81471
Net assets BEFE 242,893 241,469 235517 106,498 81,235
Equity attributable to owners — BRERAREHEE AR
of the Company B 242,893 241469 235517 106,498 81,235
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